



A REPORT ON BEST PRACTICE AND REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Johannnah May Black, MA

ANTIGONISH WOMEN'S RESOURCE CENTRE AND SEXUAL ASSAULT SERVICES ASSOCIATION

WWW.AWRCSASA.CA

Table of Contents

The Context of Sexualized Violence on University and College Campuses	2
The Role of Prevention Strategies in Addressing Sexualized Violence on Campus	7
Bystander Intervention as Prevention Work	10
How Should Training be Structured?	14
When Trainings Should Occur	16
Administrative and Institutional Support	17
The Role of Students	19
A Survivor Centred Approach	21
Should Trainings be Single or Multi-Gendered?	25
Taking a Systemic Approach to Bystander Intervention Training	26
Using an Anti-Oppression/Intersectional Feminist Framework for Bystander Intervention Train	ning28
Key Elements of Successful Bystander Training Programs	31
Skills Building	31
Discussion of Rape Myths and Rape Culture	32
A Focus on Aggressors	35
Linking Sexual Violence and Alcohol	38
Developing Communities of Accountability	41
What's missing from Existing Bystander Training Models?	46
LGBTQ Inclusion	46
Grounding in the Reconciliation Process	47
Conclusion	49
Works Cited	50

A Review of the Literature on Sexual Violence Prevention and Bystander Intervention Programming on University and College Campuses in Canada and the United States

Prepared by: Johannah May Black – Bystander Project Coordinator, Antigonish Women's Resource Centre and Sexual Assault Services Association.



The Context of Sexualized Violence on University and College Campuses:

With the establishment of the Sexual Violence Prevention Committee, the Nova Scotia government, along with various student organizations, community groups, Nova Scotian universities, and the NSCC, have acknowledged the pressing issue of sexual violence on post-secondary campuses in the province. At the same time, there has been a growing awareness of sexual violence on campus with students, administrators, faculty, and governments across North America concluding that universities and colleges are, "a prime hunting ground for assailants" (Task Force on Misogyny, Sexism and Homophobia in Dalhousie University Faculty of Dentistry n.d., 81). Researchers have pointed to a, "widespread systemic rape culture on Canadian campuses" (Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016, 40). Indeed, sexual assault is the most common violent crime reported on college and university campuses in North

America (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012). In 2015, the CBC reported that over 700 cases of sexual assault were reported at Canadian universities and colleges between 2009 and 2014 (Haiven 2017, 95). Furthermore, while Ryerson University had the highest number of reported cases, Nova Scotia's Acadia University had the highest rate when adjusted to the student population (Haiven 2017, 95). While there are cases of sexual assault on campus that garner national media attention, such as the sexual assault charges against two members of the St. Francis Xavier football team or the stranger assault of Mount Saint Vincent student in a wooded area on campus, both of which occurred in late 2017, the vast majority of campus sexual violence against women occurs, "under a veil of silence"

> Between 2009 and 2014, 700 cases of sexual assault were reported at Canadian universities and colleges.

(Trusolino 2017, 82).

While awareness of the issue seems to have increased, scholars and anti-violence advocates have noted that, "despite more than two decades of research, reports in newspapers and magazines, activism and programs on college campuses," there is little evidence in a decline in rates of sexualized violence (Fisher, Daigle and Cullen 2010, 177). Notably victim blaming attitudes have not decreased substantially with one author and university educator stating, "Years of educating the public about these issues seem to have resulted only in the expectation that women should now know better than to let themselves get

raped" (Mardorossian 2002, 753). As some researchers note, this is often the response of Canadian campus officials who respond to student-survivors with "suspicion and blame" (Quinlan 2017A, 65). Furthermore, as many as half of all campus survivors report "institutional betrayal" in the form of, "academically punishing the survivor for reporting, covering up the report, dismissing the survivor's experience, taking no proactive steps, or making it difficult to further report the experience" (Smith, 2014; Smith & Freyd, 2013, as quoted in Quinlan 2017A, 66). Others have contended that while campuses and classrooms represent spaces that are "imbued with the possibility of violence", these same classrooms also hold "the potential of healing and transformation" (Rojas Durazo 2011/12, 77). What this means is that universities and colleges, as institutions of education, have the potential to create transformative pedagogies that have an impact on the social contexts that support sexual violence.

Taking a look at statistical rates of sexual violence can provide us with a foundational understanding of the issue. We know that one in three Canadian women will experience sexual assault in her lifetime (Government of Ontario, 20150). Furthermore, 20-25% of "college- and university- aged women" in Canada will experience some form of sexual assault during their time as a student (Gladu 2017, 22). It is important to be aware that many women will have already experienced sexual assault before attending post-secondary education (Senn et al., 2014). Moreover, revictimization is also common attribute of



women in post-secondary institutions with 60% experiencing more than one assault (Fredericton Sexual Assault Centre, n.d.). Finally, some women experience sexualized violence at higher rates than others, including indigenous women, women with disabilities, and women who identify on the

trans-spectrum (METRAC 2014, 5). American statistics also demonstrate that bisexual women are at a heightened risk for sexual violence compared to both heterosexual and lesbian women (Cantor et al., 2015).

Men also experience sexual violence on campus (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012). There are no specific statistics for men on campus, but 1 in 6 Canadian men will experience sexual violence before turning 18 (Our Turn 2017, 12). Indeed, while men with rape-supportive attitudes may fear being "falsely accused", statistics show that a man is more likely to experience sexual assault as a victim/survivor, than to be "falsely accused" of sexual assault (Weiser 2017, 55). Men who are, "[...] young, Aboriginal, living with disabilities, working in the sex industry, and/or living on the streets or in correctional facilities [...]" experience the highest rates sexual assault compared to other groups of men (Du Mont, Macdonald, White & Turner, 2013; as cited in EVA BC 2016, 24). American studies have found that 33% of multiracial and 22.6% of Black men have experienced sexual violence in their lifetimes (Black et al. 2011; cited in Tillipaugh 2017, 102). Men with "developmental disabilities" and men who identify as gay, bisexual or Queer are also more likely to report experiencing sexual violence (Tillipaugh 2017). While the vast majority of sexual assaults are perpetrated by men towards women, there is evidence that women commit sexual violence as well. Anderson and Sorenson (1999) found that half of men in their survey reported a situation where a woman attempted to have sexual contact with him because she "overestimated his level of sexual desire" (Jozkowski, Peterson, Saunders, Dennis, & Reece 2014, 905).

Other men face sexual violence from male peers in the form of "homoerotic sadism that is practised on new kids when they join [...] a college athletic team, or the school band, or a fraternity" (Kimmel 2009, 61). Hazing rituals on campus are frequently sites of sexual violence as they are meant to elicit the "sexual humiliation of presumed heterosexual males" through "homophobic taunting" (Kimmel 2009, 112). Indeed, university athletes and sexually violent hazing rituals came to the forefront of national media in Canada in 2005 when six football players at McGill University in Montreal were suspended from one game for sexually assaulting a teammate with a broom handle in front of a group of other teammates (Fogel 2017, 144-5). Similarly, in 1996 two male hockey players were cut from the University of Guelph's hockey team after reporting sexually violent hazing rituals to their coach (Fogel 2017, 145).

The experiences of trans and nonconforming students with sexual violence on campus are also important to note. When studies do pay attention to gender identities other than cis-gendered men and women, they show that nearly one in three transgender, genderqueer, questioning, and nonconforming (TGQN) students experience sexual assault during college (Cantor et al., 2015). In particular, trans-spectrum students who are also racial minorities, experience extremely high rates of sexual violence (Grant et al. 2011; cited in Palacios and Aguilar 2017, 200). Other particularly vulnerable groups on campus include international students, racialized students and bisexual students. Studies report a higher level of vulnerability to sexual assault for international students who may have limited knowledge of Canadian laws, less confidence in English language

skills, limited social support, and/or may be perceived as having the above stated vulnerabilities by aggressors who target them intentionally (Forbes-Mewett, McCulloch, & Nyland, 2015). American-based research has demonstrated that racial minorities experience sexual assault on campus at higher rates (Krebs et al., 2016). Another group facing a high risk of sexual violence are bisexual students whose rates of experiencing sexual violence are double that of gay and lesbian students and 2.5 times higher than heterosexual students (Cantor et al., 2015).

Common sites of sexual violence on campus include campus bars or pubs and residences, as well as off-campus housing (Gladu 2017, 22). According to statistics drawn from American studies, 34% of sexual assaults and 45% of attempted sexual assaults of college women occur on campus (Martell Constulting Services Ltd. 2014, 8). 60% of these assaults and attempted assaults occur in the victim/survivors residence, with 31% occurring in another residence and 10% occurring in a fraternity house (Martell Consulting Services Ltd. 2014, 8). It also important to note that the risk of sexual assault has been found to be similar for students at colleges and universities with "heightened security measures" such as cctv cameras and fenced boundaries, as it is for students at colleges and universities that do not have these measures in place (Cass 2007, quoted in Quinlan 2017A, 5). This suggests that environmental safety measures may have less of an impact than shifting cultural norms. METRAC (2016) reports that 80% of women post-secondary students who are survivors of sexual assault or attempted assault knew the aggressor (quoted in Our Turn 2017, 12). In most cases, the aggressor is a classmate, friend,

boyfriend, or ex-boyfriend (Martell Consulting Services Ltd 2014, 8; Senn et al. 2015, 2333).

80% of sexual assault survivors on campus knew the aggressor beforehand.

"Date rape" or sexual assault perpetrated by an intimate partner, is a common form of sexual violence experienced on campus and is also the least reported type of sexual assault (Whtieside-Lantz 2003, 14). Focusing on Canadian campuses, Schwartz, DeKesseredy, Tait, and Alvi (2001) write that, "Canadian male dating partners sexually abuse an alarmingly high number of female undergraduates" (624). The Canadian National Survey (DeKesseredy and Kelly 1993) showed that 41% of women undergraduate students reported experiencing "one of several types of sexual assaults on a date since leaving high school" and 19.5% of men undergraduate students reporting having victimized a dating partner in the same way (cited in Schwartz, DeKesseredy, Tait, and Alvi 2001, 624). Within more long-term intimate relationships, sexual coercion is commonplace form of sexual violence (Senn et al. 2015). 54% of young women and 13% of young men report experiencing sexual coercion in a dating relationship, with 20% of post-secondary students indicating that they have given in to unwanted sexual intercourse "because they were overwhelmed by a man's continual arguments and pressure" (Fredericton Sexual Assault Centre, n.d.). Indeed, when broadening the discussion of sexual assault

to sexual aggression, American studies confirm that over 50% of college aged women report experiencing sexual aggression and 25% of college aged men admit to engaging in "at least one instance of sexually aggressive behaviour", with 8% of the men reporting behaviour that met the legal definition for rape or attempted rape (Swartout 2013, 158).

Sexual Assault is the most gendered of crimes.

Women are more at risk for experiencing sexual violence during their time as post-secondary students than at any other time in their life (Martin, Fisher, Warner, Krebs, & Lindquist, 2011). There are various claims about when students are most likely to experience sexual violence, with some arguing that students are most at risk during the first two years of school (Senn et al., 2015), their first year (EVA BC, n.d.), during the first eight weeks of school (EVA BC, n.d.; Martell Consulting Services Ltd. 2014) known as the "red zone", or during Frosh or Orientation weeks (Gladu 2017, 22).

Sexual violence on campus is highly gendered and thus impacts men and women's experiences on campus differently. As Canadian feminist statistician Holly Johnson (2012) writes, "Sexual assault is the most gendered of crimes" (613). Indeed, a campus safety audit completed with student participation at StFX University in 2013 found that female students felt significantly less safe on campus than male students (MacDonald, Mtetwa and Ndomo 2013, 8). American research shows that women students are more likely to be aware of

issues of sexual violence on campus than men students (Potter, Moynihan, Stapleton, & Banyard, 2009). Cisgendered women students are also more likely than cigendered men students to view sexual violence as a problem on their campus, as are transgender, genderqueer, nonconforming, and questioning students (Cantor et al., 2015). Overall, 40% of Canadian undergraduate students consider the response and resources that their university has provided to deal with sexual violence, "moderately inadequate" or "very inadequate" (Quinlan 2017A, 68). However American research has demonstrated that heterosexual men are more likely than both heterosexual women and lesbian, gay and bisexual students to report that their university is "doing a good job" of handling sexual violence on campus (Krebs, Lindquist, Berzofsky, Shook-Sa, & Peterson, 2016). As Armstrong and Mahone (2017) conclude, "It is clear that sexual violence continues to be more of a concern to women than to men. That is not to say that men condone sexual violence, but they seem to be more passive in their opposition" (110).

Other studies point to a gendered-gap in understanding consent (Muelenhard et al. 2016). Muelenahrd et al. (2016) cite a study by Byers (1980) that found that 91% of men and women university students reported one of more experiences when "the man was surprised when the woman became angry or upset or tried to resist him in a physical or verbal way" (16). A University of Ottawa campus climate survey also found differences in gender in terms of participation in rape culture with 24% of male students stating that they would "laugh at a rape joke" compared to only 5% of

female students (University of Ottawa 2015, 16).

In terms of reporting on campuses, most studies confirm that students of all genders believe that reporting sexual assaults to campus officials is important (Cantor et al., 2015). However, American studies show that over 50% of survivors "of even the most serious incidents" do not report the assault because "they do not consider it 'serious enough'" (Association of American Universities 2017, 4). While students often have more options in terms of access to formal supports than survivors who are not students, they are less likely to seek help than other survivors (Holtfreter and Boyd 2006; Sabina & Ho 2014). This points to a widespread culture of denial and the minimization of the harms of sexual violence on campuses and in broader North American society. Again, it is important to point out that this underreporting is gendered with cis-gendered women and TGON-identified persons reporting that they have less faith in the benefits of the campus reporting process than cis-gendered men (Worthen and Wallace 2017, 182). In a survey of sexual assault survivors on American campuses, Holland and Cortina (2017) found that some student-survivors, "minimized the assault by interpreting the behaviour as a normal part of being a woman in college..." (56). Furthermore, intersectional feminists have pointed out that underreporting is also influenced by institutionalized racism with Black women survivors fearing micro-aggressions or overt racism from campus supports, as well as the fear of not being believed (Wooten 2017). Indeed, a study of racialized undergraduate students who were also survivors of campus sexual violence in Canadian institutions found that most of these students were

reluctant to report to campus authorities (Stermac, Horowitz, and Bance 2017). These students would often "downplay" the violence as normal, or would be aware of the violence but want to use their academic pursuits as a way to avoid facing the issue, or in other cases, would approach campus administrators with generalized concerns about sexual violence on campus without disclosing their own experiences (Stermac, Horowitz, and Bance 2017).

There are several explanations given by scholars and anti-violence activists as to why post-secondary education institutions have increased rates of sexual violence in comparison to other segments of our society. For young students who leave home a new environment with less parental supervision as well as a new local culture to adapt to and the desire to "fit in" or find one's place can create a vulnerability to peer norms (California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015, 60). Kuperberg and Padgett (2015) argue that there is a "social script" that many students follow when arriving at college or university where they view their student years as a "time to experiment" with new personalities and behaviours (518). Other scholars note that there are a number of known social factors that increase violence against women that all converge on Canadian campuses, including student populations that are disproportionately "young and transient", with "low levels of group cohesion and community attachment" as well as high rates of alcohol and drug use (Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016, 41).

Indeed, many campuses have an informal culture that encourages experimentation with alcohol and drugs (California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015; Martell Consulting Services Ltd.

2014). However, Horseman and Cormack (2016) warn against the "moral panic" found in many popular accounts of campus party culture, arguing that many students find meaning and identity in this culture. Instead, they point to a culture of entitlement on campus where, "regardless of a student's class origin, university campuses remain sites of the enactment of social class privilege, where students are encouraged to treat themselves as suspended from adult responsibilities and the coherent construction of self" (Horseman and Cormack 2016, 2). They argue that students experience university culture as "radically new moral territories" where their current "student self" is divorced from their visions of a future, adult self and the moral and social responsibilities that come with it (Horseman and Cormack 2016, 6-11). In this same space of experimentation, others argue that campuses are, "breeding grounds for performances of hypermasculinity" (Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010, 270). In this context, cisgendered male students are celebrated for their "kill counts" in terms of hook-ups and women students are labelled as "sluts" for taking part in the same behaviours (Horseman and Cormack 2016, 10).

26% of male postsecondary students will perpetrate at least one act of sexual violence during their time as students.

The double-standard for men and women, as well as the violent language of "kill counts" points to misogynistic culture that often permeates student hook-up

culture. While hook-up culture in and of itself is not violent or misogynistic, its current formation on campus often is. Horseman and Cormack (2016) detail the hookup culture at a small Canadian university where male students signal to other male students that the hookup they engaged in was "meaningless" by treating the woman that they hooked-up with as "meaningless". Furthermore, surveys measuring male acts of sexual violence report that more than 26% of male students will perpetuate at least one act of sexual violence during their college years (Abbey & McAuslan, 2004; Abbey, McAuslan, & Ross, 1998). In a survey of male students "attraction to sexual aggression", Malamuth (1989) found that 16-20 % of male students reported that they would, "commit rape if they could be certain of getting away with it" (cited in Kimmel 2009, 224). When the word "rape" was substituted for the phrase "force a woman to have sex" the response rate jumped to 36-44% of male students (Malamuth 1989; cited in Kimmel 2009, 224). Pair this misogyny and climate of "experimentation" with what Kimmel (2009) describes as a "code of silence" between "brothers", and you have a culture where violence against women is routine and accepted (230).

It is not only student culture that is complicit in allowing sexual violence to become commonplace on campus. Campus institutions have also failed on multiple fronts. Studies have shown that on average, only 1% of campus perpetrators receive any form of disciplinary sanctions from their university (Krebs et al. 2007 in Quinlan 2017A, 66). Furthermore, the documentary *The Hunting Ground* revealed a ratio of 200 expulsions for plagiarism for every one expulsion for rape (cited in Quinlan 2017A,

66). Despite these sobering statistics there are some visionary and unique efforts by various campus and government bodies to address the issue of campus sexual violence from a pro-active rather than re-active approach. These methods are fast becoming the best-practice and gold-standard for violence prevention on campus. As Canadian scholar Elizabeth Quinlan (2017B) writes, these approaches include public reporting of all incidents of sexual assault on campus as mandated by the Ontario and British Columbia governments, legislation placing the onus on perpetrator to "prove consent" in both New York and California, and the requirement to mark perpetrators' transcripts to prevent them from moving from campus to campus without notice in Virginia. Further best practice models include stand-alone sexual violence policies, sexual assault centres on campus with their own full-time staff, peer-to-peer sexual violence support through student run phone lines or drop-in centres, campus counselling centres without long waitlists, campus-wide awareness campaigns, and prevention education in the form of Bystander Intervention training that is institutionalized, fully funded, and sustainable (Quinlan 2017A, 71).

The Role of Prevention Strategies in Addressing Sexualized Violence on Campus

While many Universities and Colleges in Canada have made great strides in shaping and adopting stand-alone sexual violence policies, Senn et al. (2014) argue that there is, "an urgent need for effective rape prevention programs on university campuses". Indeed, only a "small minority of women" come to university or college with previous sexual violence education or

training (Senn et al. 2014). This lack of training combined with other contextual factors detailed in the previous section, leaves students vulnerable and unprepared to challenge rape culture on campus. Studies show that prevention education works best when it is "individually tailored" to the needs and contexts of specific campuses (Association of American Universities 2017; California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015). A "Made in Nova Scotia" Bystander Intervention Training program will be able to address this need by tailoring the education to the Nova Scotian context as well as by working closely with students and campus groups.

Student participation and input is key to developing successful prevention efforts. Our Turn is a new student-led organization addressing rape culture on Canadian campuses. Their recent national Action Plan, which has been adopted by the Dalhousie student union, calls for "a holistic approach" that includes prevention programming as one of the three tiers of action (Our Turn 2017). Similarly, the student-run Ontario Public Interest Research Group at Queens University in Kingston ON, commissioned a review of best-practice approaches to campus violence, as well as a survey of antisexual violence workers across Canadian campuses called, "We Believe in a Campus Free of Sexual Violence: Lessons from Campus Sexual Violence Prevention Leaders" (Gerrits and Runyon 2015). Their report recommends widespread prevention education on campus and states that prevention programming must increase knowledge on campus about sexual violence and healthy relationships, as well as "foster the development of skills with which [students] can intervene in rape culture in their own lives" (Gerrits and Runyon 2015,

4). In the United States, Students Active for Ending Rape (SAFER) found that, "[...] an overarching theme [...] was the need for more and better prevention education." (SAFER 2015, 6). Included in their "Campus Accountability Project" is the recommendation that campuses "Increase primary prevention efforts and create more opportunities for students to engage meaningfully with primary prevention activities" (SAFER & V-Day 2013, vi). They push for colleges and universities to "prioritize primary prevention programs [...] in order to increase students' skills for intervening against sexual assault and decrease their acceptance of rape myths" (SAFER & V-Day 2013, 27). In other words, the push for prevention education is coming directly from students and their advocates.

However, due to chronic underfunding and a lack of initiative by Canadian campuses, prevention work often ends up "taking a back seat" to providing front-line supports or developing policy (Gerrits and Runyon 2015; Silbaugh 2015). While both support work and a strong, stand-alone policy are vital pieces of each institution's responses to sexual violence on campus, the value of prevention education cannot be understated. Indeed, the University of Ottawa's (2015) Report of the Task Force on Respect and Equality, states definitively that, "Campuses must prevent sexual violence and not simply react to it" (University of Ottawa 2015, 24). Furthermore, the same report contends that sexual violence policies are more effective when combined with prevention education initiatives (University of Ottawa 2015, 28). The Association of American Universities (AAU) (2017) argues that prevention efforts should be the "top priority" of universities

that "want to stop sexual assault and misconduct from occurring in the first place" (24). In their guidelines for campuses addressing sexual assault, the California Coalition Against Sexual Assault (2015) states that, "Campuses must provide comprehensive prevention and outreach" as a "part of every incoming student's orientation, and should be ongoing and layered throughout a student's time on campus" (7). Canadian scholars of campus sexual violence, Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller (2016) echo that there is a "pressing need" for Canadian post-secondary institutions to increase their funding for "prevention and intervention programming" (48). Similarly, Senn (2011) advocates for "comprehensive" prevention education that is "proven effective" through evaluation and "funded to enable widespread dissemination" (124).

In terms of what prevention efforts should look like, Casey and Lindhorst (2009) argue for an "ecological prevention strategy" that is comprehensive, incorporates community engagement, contextualizes the problem, is based in theory, focuses on strengths, and addresses structural factors (cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 38). This means that prevention efforts cannot simply be "band-aid" solutions to broader structural problems. The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014) state that, "Prevention strategies that are consistent with best practices – such as being theory-based and including multiple skill-based sessions – have the greatest potential in reducing rates of sexual violence" (2). They further detail the best prevention strategies as: comprehensive; appropriately timed; including multiple sessions; administered by well-trained staff; socio-culturally relevant; based in theory of change; encouraging of positive

relationships between peers or communities; draw on multiple teaching methods; and include evaluation of outcomes (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014; National Sexual Violence Resource Center 2013).

Focusing primarily on consent implies that rape prevention programs merely have to explain to men how to interpret women's cues.

Canadian anti-violence organizations including, the Ending Violence Association of BC write that "broad evidence-based sexual violence prevention" initiatives should include the following: an understanding of the gendered nature of sexual violence; an analysis of how sexual violence is unique from other issues that might occur on university and college campuses (i.e. plagiarism); a traumainformed approach to the short- and longterm impacts that violence can have on survivors; an understanding of the broader impacts of rape culture and the myths about sexual violence that are perpetuated by this culture (EVA BC 2016, 41). Gerrits and Runyon (2015) in their report for OPIRG identify six interrelated characteristics of a comprehensive prevention strategy. They write that a comprehensive prevention strategy must: increase knowledge about sexual violence; increase knowledge about healthy relationships; develop positive skill sets; challenge social norms; foster student leadership; and address substance abuse (Gerrits and Runyon 2015, 8). Furthermore,

prevention education should build on the knowledge and experiences of the students who participate in it (Beres 2014, 377) and be, "grounded in an understanding of sexual assault as a normalized, socially learned behaviour" (Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016, 46).

Unfortunately, Senn (2011) writes that with some exceptions, the most common approach to sexual violence prevention on Canadian University campuses is "the provision of brochures in health or student centre offices" (123). A recent symposium on sexual violence on Canadian campuses found that "prevention and advocacy services on campuses are woefully inadequate" (Quinlan, Clarke and Miller 2016, 48). Similar to the evaluation of rape education programs reviewed by Carmody (2009), these prevention efforts are based on, "the faulty assumption that individual 'awareness' would prevent rape" (cited in Senn 2011, 130). Moreover, in their review of prevention education efforts on Canadian campuses, Sharp, Weiser, Lavigne and Kelly (2017) are critical of the majority of sexual assault programs offered because of the ways that these programs, "obscured the gendered context of sexual assault, put the onus on women, and focused primarily on issues of consent..." (77). They argue that these, "Campus Life interventions have lacked both empirical evaluation and feminist theorizing" (Sharp, Weiser, Lavigne, and Kelly 2017, 77). While consent education is important, focusing primarily or even solely on consent, "implies that rapeprevention programs need merely to explain how to interpret women's cues" (Muelenhard, Humphreys. Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016, 477). This is inconsistent with research that demonstrates that both young men and young women are able to

understand and interpret complicated and context-driven cues to sexual consent (Beres 2010), as well as the predatory and planned behaviour exhibited by the majority of aggressors in campus sexual assaults (Armstrong et al. 2006; Lisak & Miller 2002). Other prevention education efforts have been criticized as "victim blaming" or as focusing too narrowly on individuals and small groups instead of "wider social change" (Potter, Fountain and Stapleton 2012, 202). As Quinlan (2017A) argues, "...if sexual violence was recognized as a social problem, the nature and extend of the programs would necessarily be different from those presently being adopted..." (63). It is important that in developing the Made In Nova Scotia Bystander Intervention training program that we take these criticisms seriously and work to avoid the same mistakes.

Bystander Intervention as Prevention Work

While there are many forms of prevention education, Bystander Intervention training is particularly promising (EVA BC 2016; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014; Association of American Universities 2017; California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015; McQueeny 2016; Senn et al. 2014; Ouinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016). In Nova Scotia, the *Preventing Violence Against* Women at StFX project, led by the Antigonish Women's Resource Centre and Sexual Assault Services Association, was responsible for introducing Bringing in the Bystander trainings to Nova Scotia campuses (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b). This program has been widely adopted across the province. Most recently, the Nova Scotia Sexual Violence Prevention

Committee has recommended that "the universities collaborate in developing a Nova Scotia specific bystander education program. Once developed and evaluated, this program should be recognized as a best practice for use at Nova Scotia university campuses" (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 7). The development of this new "made in Nova Scotia Bystander training program" is once again being led by the Antigonish Women's Resource Centre and Sexual Assault Services Association. A wide range of anti-violence organizations and scholars have similarly recommend adopting Bystander Intervention training initiatives (EVA BC 2016; Our Turn 2017). In the United States, the Obama administration mandated primary prevention programming for all incoming students and employees of post-secondary institutions (SAFER &V-DAY 2013). This is also in-line with recommendations found in the reports responding to sexual violence at various Canadian post-secondary institutions (St. Mary's University President's Council 2013; University of Ottawa 2015).

Student organizations and advocates similarly recommend Bystander Intervention training. The Our Turn (2017) action plan recommends "peer-to-peer" sexual violence prevention training that includes, "tools for bystanders to identify sexual violence and respond" (26). In their national study of student anti-rape activists, SAFER found that in response to a question on "the most effective way to end sexual assault/rape on campus," the most popular response was "Bystander intervention/education" with 31.7% of respondents selecting this answer (SAFER 2013, 18). Similarly, in their report OPIRG recommends "comprehensive & ongoing anti-sexual violence educational programming in the form of peer education," specifically pointing to Bystander Intervention Training as a promising approach (Gerrits and Runyon 2015). A campus climate survey at the University of Ottawa (2015) showed that many students believed that, "a robust prevention program (following the bystander model) [...] would be more effective means to combat sexual violence" than overly punitive measures (22). Students Nova Scotia (Students NS) also recommended in both their (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014a) report on reducing the harmful effects of alcohol overconsumption as well as their (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b) report on preventing sexual violence that Bystander intervention training be offered to all student leadership on an annual basis.

Bystander Intervention training programs work towards preventing sexual violence by teaching participants how to "interrupt" sexually violent encounters either before they occur when warning signs are present, or while they are occurring, as well as how to "speak out" against rape culture (Banyard, Moynihan & Plante 2007; cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 41). The Ending Violence Association of BC (EVA BC) writes that, "The bystander approach is centred on the idea that everyone has a role to play in challenging and interrupting violent behaviour and that in each peer culture, individuals should be upholding social norms that condemn violent behaviour" (EVA BC 2016, 77). One of the strengths of the Bystander Model is that it makes the subject of sexual violence relevant, "to people who otherwise feel that they are not impacted by the problem" (California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015, 64). This is accomplished by giving all members of the community a "specific role, which they can identify with and adopt

in preventing the community problem of sexual violence" (Banyard, Moynihan, and Plante 2007, 464), and can be further enhanced by using recent and local statistics (Senn et al. 2014), and by portraying "scenes" or case studies that are "true to their life experiences" (Mitchell and Freitag 2011, 1003).

The bystander approach is centered on the idea that everyone has a role to play in ending sexual violence.

Straatman (2013) argues that the bystander approach to sexual violence prevention is important because, "bystander attitudes have been identified as aspects of society that condone interpersonal violence. Bystanders can perpetuate these attitudes and community norms..." (3). Indeed, as Kimmel (2008) points out many aggressors are able to commit sexual assault because of "the silence of other men" and thus campuses need to work to empower these "silent men" to be active bystanders (as cited in Jozkowski and Wiersma-Mosely 2017, 99). When students and community members of all genders are approached as "partners" in ending violence, "connectivity is fostered, defensiveness is minimized, and everyone becomes part of the solution" (Mitchell and Freitag 2011, 1002). The Bystander approach can also deflect victimblaming by encouraging participants to focus on their own responsibilities as bystanders instead of the actions of victims/survivors (Mitchell and Freitag 2011, 1002).

There are numerous positive benefits that come from providing Bystander Training on campus that have been proven in evaluation studies. For example, studies have demonstrated that rates of sexual violence are lower on campuses after providing bystander training compared to similar campuses that did not provide training (Coker et al 2016 cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 41). Other studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of Bystander Intervention training in "shifting attitudes and social norms on the issue of gender-based violence" (Banyard et al. 2007; Palm Reed et al 2015; as cited in EVA BC 2016, 42); increasing bystander confidence, and decreasing beliefs in rape myths and victim blaming attitudes (U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014, 2). Bystander intervention training has also demonstrated an effectiveness in increasing participants' intent to intervene as well as their perceived benefits of intervention (U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014, 2).

Students already witness sexual violence on a regular basis and are looking for ways to create change. A campus climate survey at UNB Fredericton found that 15% of students have witnessed an incident of sexual assault, and that 68% took some form of action to intervene (cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 29). A campus climate survey at the University of Ottawa (2015) produced similar results. This demonstrates that while many acts of sexual assault occur in private, there is still a significant number of cases where bystanders are present, up to one-third according to some research (Planty 2002 cited in Bennett, Banyard, and Garnhart 2014). Students are clearly able to

recognize the situations as problematic and are already taking steps to intervene.

Bystander Intervention training is useful in teaching students ways to intervene that are both safe and effective.

However, Bystander Intervention training is limited in its effectiveness if it is the only method addressing sexual violence on campus. In particular, it is necessary for post-secondary institutions to first raise awareness of the issue as it relates to their particular campus context (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 41). Indeed, research demonstrates that Bystander Intervention training is most successful when there is "broad community support" for the training (Powell 2010 cited in Rentschler 2017, 571). The U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women (2014) states that an effective Bystander Training program will have the following components: increase awareness of sexual violence; increase a "sense of responsibility" in participants; create a positive shift in peer norms; teach bystanders to weigh the pros and cons of different approaches to intervention; and increase participants' confidence in their ability to help (1). Students NS recommends that effective Bystander Intervention Trainings: teach intervention techniques; encourage men to get involved in preventing sexual violence; address the connections between alcohol and sexual violence; explicitly address acquaintance sexual violence; and dispel rape myths (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b, 37). Straatman (2013) writes that promising strategies for Bystander Training will: identify sexual violence as a "gender-based crime"; frame sexual violence as a continuum of harmful behaviour; address barriers to bystander intervention; include examples of how to respond proactively and

appropriately to sexual violence; and identify common situations where individuals may find themselves to be bystanders (6). It is important in developing a "Made in Nova Scotia" approach to address as many of this components as possible.

Bystander Intervention trainings should encourage interventions that are positive, creative and non-violent.

It is further recommended that Bystander Intervention training adopt an explicitly feminist lens (Sharp, Weiser, Lavigne, and Kelly 2017). This is especially necessary in order to avoid positioning male bystanders as "white knights," thereby reinforcing "patriarchal rescue narratives" (Haaken 2017, 24) and sexist notions that position women as "helpless ladies" (Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010, 284) that "need men as protectors from other men" (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d., 561). A feminist analysis must include discussion of survivor agency to avoid perpetuating the idea that, "women are too weak to defend themselves" (Haaken 2017, 26). Furthermore, these trainings should work to counter the popular beliefs that the only two choices bystanders have are to intervene physically or do nothing, encouraging interventions that are "positive, creative, nonviolent and carry little or no risk of physical confrontation" (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d., 562). Realistic models will also explicitly address potential challenges and fears of participants including, "fear of retaliation", loss of

friendship or social standing, and uncertainty over the "seriousness" of the situation (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d., 562), as well as their own and others' perception of masculinity for men who are bystanders (Mitchell and Freitag 2011, 997).

An intersectional feminist approach to Bystander Intervention training should be grounded in models of community accountability. Anti-racist feminist organization Creative Interventions, points out that Bystander Intervention models grounded in the notion of community accountability have the potential to break the isolation of victims/survivors and to distribute the responsibility for responding to violence, "from the shoulders of the victim/survivor to the broader community" (2012, 1-16). They argue that communities who want to end violence must take the responsibility for becoming more knowledgeable about sexual violence, as well as more willing to take action to intervene, and to "support social norms and conditions that prevent violence from happening in the first place" (Creative Interventions 2012, 1-32). They write that community accountability means that, "intervention expands beyond thinking and talking about what to do about violence – and moves into actions that can actually interrupt violence" (Creative Interventions 2012, 2-5). Furthermore, "a feminist transformative justice model" of bystander intervention training positions bystanders as "social change agents" (Rentschler 2017, 565-566). In order to accomplish this, it is important that Bystander Intervention trainings do not "minimize the difficult work of challenging institutions that support violence" (Chief Elk and Deveraux 2014 cited in Rentschler 2017, 569), replicate

victim blaming attitudes, promote "individual white masculinist models of heroism", or place more responsibility on witnesses to violence than on those who perpetrate it (Rentschler 2017, 569).

Indeed, creating the social change necessary to foster community accountability means changing our culture. The first step to taking that change is empowering people to speak out against sexual violence, sexism, and sexual harassment. Feminist scholar Sara Ahmed (2017) writes, "... I have learnt from working on sexual harassment that nothing is louder than silence..." Bystander Intervention training takes aim at this culture of silence. Indeed, Bystander Intervention training's biggest potential is the ability to "interrupt and counter [...] rape-supportive culture" (Hong 2017, 29).

How Should Training be Structured?

Consistent throughout the literature is the conclusion that longer and more detailed, in-depth programs produce more effective results (Banyard, Moynihan, and Plante 2007; Gerrits and Runyon 2015), and are more effective in changing attitudes toward sexual violence (Anderson and Whitson 2005) as well as bystander behaviours (Teten Tharp et al. 2012; Hong 2017). As the Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre (n.d.) notes, "change takes time". Repeatedly, the literature stresses that "short, single session prevention tools" are ineffective in changing behaviours and attitudes of participants in the long-term (U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014a; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014; University of Ottawa 2015; California

Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015), and are even less effective in reducing the frequency of sexual assault on campus (Gerrits and Runyon 2015). As the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention write, "brief programs may increase awareness of the issue" but, "it is unlikely that such programs are sufficient to change behavioural patterns that are developed and continually reinforced across the lifespan" (2014, 8).

Thus, most of the literature recommends multiple sessions (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014; Association of American Universities 2017; Kirby et al. 2007; Beres 2014; Mitchell and Freitag 2011) that recur throughout a student's time on campus (Gerrits and Runyon 2015; Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016; Hong 2017) with semester-long courses being the most effective (Anderson et al. 2005; Banyard, Moynihan, and Plante 2007). The Association of American Universities (2017) writes, "It's difficult for most people to absorb and retain large amounts of information at one time. And sometimes what doesn't seem pertinent initially resonates later [...] students can benefit from information being presented at different stages and in different ways..." (27). Similarly, the (2017) Status of Women Canada report on Ending Violence Against Women and Girls notes the importance of on-going education programs and initiatives on campus that "extend beyond the first weeks of an academic year" (Gladu 2017, 26). Expanding on this sentiment, the U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women writes that, "first year students may be best able to engage with prevention that emphasises knowing how to help a friend who discloses a sexual assault, while more complex bystander intervention

actions are better taught later, once students have experience on campus (2014a, 2).

Research also indicates that training is most effective when conducted in person rather than online (EVA BC 2016; U.S. Department of Justice Office on Violence Against Women 2014b; University of Ottawa 2015; California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015). As the California Coalition Against Sexual Assault (2015) argues, "Face-to-face learning fosters these relationships; such dynamism may be minimized or lost when training is undertaken on a distance or virtual format" (59-60). Furthermore, trainings are most effective when they are interactive (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014; National Sexual Violence Resource Center 2013; Senn et al. 2015), are integrated into the student experience (Gerrits and Runyon 2015), include varied teaching methods that reach all types of learners (National Sexual Violence Resource Center 2013; Hong 2017), and include the opportunity for skills building (U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014; Teten Tharp et al. 2012; Senn et al. 2015; Mitchell and Freitag 2011). Trainings that focus on specific content distributed across multiple sessions are more effective than one-time sexual violence 101 trainings (Anderson et al. 2005). These sessions should be complimentary, layering information throughout (California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015). Furthermore, followup or booster sessions are recommended to increase the effectiveness of the training since much of the literature shows that "the effects of preventative interventions tend to gradually decay over time" (National Sexual Violence Resource Center 2013, 453)

Even if individuals change their beliefs and behaviours after a single-session training, there is sustained pressure on to accept rape-supportive beliefs from broader rape culture. Trainings must be ongoing in order to counter this pressure.

There are many legitimate barriers to bystander intervention that single session programs cannot adequately address including: fears of triggering further violence, fears for personal safety, fears of making someone angry (Tabachnick 2009), the aversion to believing that "nice guys" can be sexually violent (Whiteside-Lantz 2003); as well as the general complexity of the issue of sexual violence (Teten Tharp et al. 2012; Whiteside-Lantz 2003; Hong 2017). Furthermore, even if individuals change their behaviours and ideas after a single session program, there is still sustained pressure on these individuals to accept rape-supportive attitudes and behaviours from peer groups and broader rape culture (Swartout 2013). Programs must be ongoing in order to counter these pressures. Opportunities to build and practice intervention skills are also a particularly important aspect of training that cannot be left out due to time constraints. As Haaken (2017) writes, "...bystanders bring their own anxieties and defences to scenes involving threat" (25) and time will be needed to work with and through these

anxieties and defences and build confidence. Furthermore, while some situations are easy and quick to intervene into, more often than not the reality will include the possibility of escalation and/or aggressor perseverance (Senn et al. 2015). Adequate training must spend time addressing these more complex intervention scenarios.

Bystander Intervention trainings must also take to time to address complex social categories and power structures. Research has shown that "simplistic educational approaches are inherently limited" (Beres et al 2014; Senn 2011; as cited in Sharp, Weiser, Lavigne, and Kelly 2017, 84). For example, Haaken (2017) warns against Bystander Intervention training programs that "substitute moralizing slogans – 'It's on us!' – for genuine analysis of the dynamics of group life on college campuses" (24). Students should be invited and challenged to think critically and to engage thoughtfully with the social and political issues that make up their world (Sharp, Weiser, Lavigne, and Kelly 2017, 84). As Muelenhard, Humphreys, Joskowski and Peterson (2016) argue, "... the norms of one's own culture can seem natural and inevitable" (466). In particular, "acquaintance rape" is so difficult to recognize because "it is built on a foundation of socially accepted norms and beliefs regarding female and male sexuality and relationships (Gavey, 2005; Kelly, 1987; cited in Senn 2011, 127). Thus adequate training programs will take time and critical discussion to address these cultural norms and gendered categories, norms and categories that are "seeded in childhood and adolescence" and cannot easily be reversed (Hong 2017, 30). Time is also needed to counter the resistance response of participants who are uncomfortable moving

beyond "concern for victims" to seeing sexual violence as "both pervasive and linked to other forms of marginalization" (Bertram and Crowley 2012, 63-65). In particular, male participants need to be "redirected" away from patriarchal norms of bystander behaviour, including reacting violently towards aggressors, to "more helpful roles" (Rich, Utley, Janke and Moldoveanu 2010). The best trainings will be structured around Paolo Friere's (1970) problem-posing pedagogy, recognizing the diverse experiences and knowledges that participants bring to the room (Mitchell and Freitag 2011, 1000).

When Trainings Should Occur:

The Nova Scotia Government (2017) recommends that some Sexual Violence prevention occur during regularly scheduled trainings for Residence Assistants and other student leaders (7), as well as during the first week of orientation for new students and continuing throughout the year (12). Orientation week is particularly singled out (Gerrits and Runyon 2015; California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015) as it is often replete with sexually explicit activities (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b; University of Ottawa 2015) and because it sets the tone for the rest of the year (St. Mary's University President's Council 2013). Furthermore, students new to the university are eager to make friends and to adapt to a new culture and are less likely to speak out against sexual violence in order to avoid looking "difficult" (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b; St. Mary's University President's Council 2013). Others argue that the first two months of school constitute a "red zone" where a high number of sexual assaults are reported and that prevention education

should be prioritized during this time (California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015; Senn et al. 2014; DeGue 2014; Palacios and Aguilar 2017).

Administrative and Institutional Support:

Campus Administrators have an important role to play in supporting sexual violence prevention efforts. The Nova Scotia Government report (2017) stresses that, "... it is very important for institutions to show support by developing policies and practices that are centred on believing" (27). Quinlan (2017a) stresses that "believing survivors" is not at odds with "safeguarding the rights of suspects", although it is often positioned this way in polarizing debates on the issue (67). Believing survivors and taking their experiences seriously includes taking a "stronger stance" against forms of sexualized violence that are viewed as less damaging (Holland and Cortina 2017, 61). A lack of institutional support sends the message that "sexual violence is not the institution's problem" (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 38), or that addressing sexual violence on campus is not a priority (Palacios and Aguilar 2017). Furthermore, a measurable shift in campus culture requires commitment from the most senior levels university administration amongst other groups and individuals on campus (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b; University of Ottawa 2015). A strong level of institutional commitment is also required to insure longevity, continuity and quality program delivery (Gerrits and Runyon 2015). More seriously, as noted in the METRAC report on Campus sexual assault policy, "institutions that fail to fulfill their responsibilities in preventing and addressing cases of sexual violence commit an institutional breach of trust" (4). By

committing to violence prevention through Bystander Intervention training, and by engaging in training themselves, administration also role-model what a caring community looks like (Tabachnick 2009).

A measurable shift in campus culture requires commitment from the most senior levels of university administration.

Much of the literature on sexual violence on campus is highly critical of institutional responses to violence that silence or ignore student and survivor perspectives in order to protect a perceived reputation (Ahmed 2017; Quinlan, Clarke and Miller 2016). When campus administrators are not proactive and visible in their efforts to prevent sexual violence, the result is that students, in particular those who are most vulnerable, feel the need to press the university to "follow through on commitments and make these issues ongoing priorities" (University of Ottawa 2015, 6). In addition, students across Canada report that administrators are "reluctant to work with students" and respond to student calls for action on sexual violence with "inaction or outright opposition" (Our Turn 2017, 4). This leads to a climate of distrust towards administration and a perceived "antagonistic division" (SAFER 2015; Quinlan 2017b). As one student leader quoted in the Students' Nova Scotia report on sexual violence on campus stated, "We need to talk about sexual violence; and challenge the university administration as well. Ask what they are going to do about it?" (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b, 17). A (2013) Focus

Group on sexual violence and safety on campus as St.FX noted that, "... there is no current means of having student input in any decision-making that occurs at the administrative level" (MacDonald, Mtetwa, and Ndomo 2013, 9). Furthermore, the Task Force on Misogyny, Sexism and Homophobia in Dalhousie Faculty of Dentistry (2015) described a climate of "distrust and suspicion" toward the University administration's responses to discrimination (3). Scott, Singh, and Harris (2017) point out this mistrust is particularly pronounced for students who are women of color, as they have likely experienced the ways that institutions systemically privilege students who are white and male (129). Moreover, Queer students and other survivor-activist students are often dismissed and labelled by administrators as "rabble rousers" who need to be "managed" rather than valuable members of the campus community with legitimate concerns (Linder and Myers 2017, 177). A student survivoractivist in SAFER's "Students Speak Out! A Nationwide Talk Back About Sexual Violence on Campus" states that, "It's easier to get expelled for being an activist for sexual assault [prevention] than it is for being a rapist" (SAFER 2015, 6). As a result, students often feel that their voices and concerns are being "stifled" (SAFER 2015, 11). American anti-violence studentactivist Wagatwe Wanjuki (2017) writes, "Academic administrators have an incredible amount of control over the life paths of their students" (ix). Students are highly cognizant of this control and the power relations that inform it, and so it is important for administrators to be mindful of, and knowledgeable about, the interconnected oppressions, including racism, sexism, heteronormativity, and

ableism, that shape students interactions with the institution. More than anything else "transparency" when it comes to campus responses to sexual violence and prevention efforts, is necessary in order to counter the prevailing climate of suspicion and distrust (Quinlan 2017b, 12).

"Academic
administrators have an
incredible amount of
control over the life paths
of their students" –
Wagatwe Wanjuki,
survivor-activist

In order to address student concerns from an anti-oppressive framework, it is important that administrators reach out to diverse student groups on campus. As the University of Ottawa (2015) Report on Respect and Equality points out, without ongoing dialogue between students and administrators, as well as a shared commitment to violence prevention, there will be an increase in distrust towards campus administration (19). Even the perception of conflict and antagonism between administration and students is enough to "undermine trust and prevent the creation of positive change" (SAFER 2015, 10). Students across Canada are calling for administrators to support their work, to collaborate and partner with them in addressing sexual violence on campus, and to move beyond mere consultation (Our Turn 2017, 10). Quinlan (2017a) warns that without change to the status-quo on Canadian campuses, the "sense of betrayal" felt by students will only increase (70). In

order to demonstrate the value of student engagement campuses must "compensate the work appropriately" and be willing to engage in long-term dialogue (University of Ottawa 2015, 24). Indeed, university campuses in Canada should be willing to create more opportunities for students to develop "critical capacities for active citizenship" through engaging them in conversations about and programs to prevent sexual violence on campus (Quinlan 2017a, 63). By addressing students' needs directly, university and college administrators, "stand to win the respect of their current and prospective students, as well as the respect of staff, faculty, and parents (Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016, 50). As Linder and Myers (2017) point out, students are already addressing sexual violence from "a complex, critical and nuanced perspective" (199), but they should not remain the only voice on campus to do so. Administrators and students can learn from each other in collaborating on this work.

The Role of Students:

It is important to acknowledge and recognize the work of student survivor-activists who have pushed the issue of sexual violence on campus to the forefront of public attention.

It is important that anti-sexual violence work center the experience and perspectives of students themselves. As Our

Turn (2017) writes, "This is our campus that we live, study and move through every day. This is our culture that must shift..." (5). Students as a group may have a better idea of what sexual violence on campus looks like as survivors are more likely to disclose to their peers and friends than they are to campus administrators, counsellors, or security personnel (Creative Interventions 2012; Kleinsasser, Jouriles, McDonald, and Rosenfield 2015). The most practical reason for centring student experiences is that students are the "target audience" of most prevention education programming and developing effective programming means knowing this audience, their strengths, and their needs (Tabachnick 2009, 24). Prevention education that positions students as passive audience members, by design, leaves students unengaged with the issues that are relevant to their own lives on campus (Mitchell and Freitag 2011). Typically, campus research on sexual violence as well as sexual violence prevention efforts, position students as "objects of study", as potential perpetrators or potential victims (Krause, Miedema, Woofter, and Yount 2017). However, a more effective and empowering approach is to relate to students as knowledgeable and active participants in the campus community and culture, and to include them in program design and delivery. It is also important to acknowledge and recognize the work of student survivor-activists who have pushed the issue of sexual violence to the forefront of public culture through the skillful and tireless work organizing, educating and promoting awareness (Wanjuki 2017). While faculty, administrators, parents and alumni, have all be instrumental in addressing sexual violence on Canadian

campuses, "it is students who have led the recent charge" (Quinlan 2017b, 7).

The provincial (2015-2019) Memorandum of Understanding between universities and the provincial government on the issue of addressing sexual violence on campus details that, "Universities will engage with elected student representatives to ensure student involvement" (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 12). Furthermore, the (2017) report by the Sexual Violence Prevention Committee to the Department of Labour and Advanced Education states that, "The involvement of student unions in sexual violence prevention on university campuses is important to both represent student perspectives of prevention strategies and to promote these strategies" (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 37). Thus, universities in the province should already have established a working relationship with students in regards to this issue. However, universities and colleges should not limit their involvement with students to elected student leaders alone. In particular, a survivor-centric approach means hearing and addressing the concerns of survivors themselves. Survivors are often those who take up the role as activists against violence on campus, driven by their own experiences even if they are not yet ready to speak openly about these experiences (Clark and Pino 2016; Linder and Myers 2016; Linder 2017; Stermac, Horowitz, and Bance 2017; MacKay, Wolfe, and Rutherford 2017). These survivoractivists are addressing sexual violence on the "front lines" (Krause, Miedema, Woofter, and Yount 2017). As SAFER contends, university and college Administrators and educators should be "nurturing and responsive" to survivoractivists; thus, "encouraging students to

work towards positive change" (SAFER 2015, 11), and "supporting" these same students in their efforts (Krause, Miedema, Woofter, and Yount 2017; Our Turn 2017).

The creation of campus Sexual Assault Support Centres and peer-to-peer support through phonelines and drop-ins, are particularly effective means for fostering longterm student engagement.

Gerrits and Runyon (2015) identify "fostering youth leadership" as one of six indispensable strategies necessary for a comprehensive approach to sexual violence prevention. Indeed, fostering leadership means going beyond consultation alone (Our Turn 2017). Students must be incorporated into all levels of violence prevention from curriculum development, to messaging, to program delivery, to evaluation (Worthen and Wallace 2017; Our Turn 2017). The creation of campus Sexual Assault Support Centres and peer-to-peer support through phone-lines and drop-ins, are particularly effective in fostering long-term student engagement (Quinlan 2017a; MacKay, Wolfe, and Rutherford 2017). In regards to prevention education, it is particularly important for students to be involved in curriculum development and messaging because as Tabachnick (2009) notes, details including "clothing and dialogue" used in programming matter (25). Images or text that do not seem relevant to students will be disregarded by those same students (Tabachnick 2009, 25). Other research

confirms that students respond most positively to material that is "true to their life experiences" (Mitchell and Freitag 2011, 1003). This broad student engagement increases the "overall effectiveness" of programming (Worthen and Wallace 2017). Moreover, in their interviews with Canadian campus anti-violence professionals, Gerrits and Runyon (2015) frequently heard of "missed opportunities" on campus where students were "eager to get involved" but a lack of resources prevented real student engagement (21). Student engagement in all levels of prevention programming inspires "social agency" in students and empowers them as agents of social change (Rojas Durazo 2011/12; Christensen 2015; Horsman and Cormack 2016).

In terms of program delivery, some of the literature recommends professionally facilitated programs over peer-facilitation (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014: National Sexual Violence Resource Center 2013). However, other research points to the benefits of peer-facilitation in role-modeling and changing attitudes about violence (Mitchell and Freitag 2011; Jozkowski et al. 2015; St. Mary's University President's Council 2013; University of Ottawa 2015; Krause, Miedema, Woofter, and Yount 2017; Armstrong and Mahone 2017; Our Turn 2017). Peer leadership is also beneficial in developing a "healthy community" where "peers look out for each other and provide support, referrals, and advocacy" (St. Mary's University President's Council 2013, 34). Other research has demonstrated that even male students who are resistant to sexual violence prevention education, still look favourably on other male students who act as peer facilitators in this same programming (Rich,

Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010). As Gerrits and Runyon (2015) point out, a mix of professional and student peer leadership is the best approach to prevention education as it both ensures high quality and ongoing programming, as well as student leadership and development. Where peer educators are used, it is essential that they receive thorough and extensive training, opportunities for professional development, and performance reviews (Gerrits and Runyon 2015, 21; Palacios and Aguilar 2017). Others contend that student peer learning is most effective when students are given broad support and the autonomy to create and organize their own programming and prevention visions (Sharp, Weiser, Lavigne, and Kelly 2017). Furthermore, a "shared leadership" framework where student input is both valued and encouraged is a feminist approach to leadership (Christensen 2011).

A Survivor Centred Approach

Consistently throughout the literature, experts advocate for a survivor-centred approach to addressing sexual violence on campus. However, little in-depth discussion is given to what exactly a survivor-centric approach looks like beyond believing survivors and acknowledging their existence on campus. Of all the reports and policy-documents reviewed in this literature review, only Our Turn (2017) went into any depth about what a survivor-centric approach looks like in practice. This section will endeavor to tease out what a survivor-centered approach to prevention education might look like in practice.

A survivor-centered approach starts with believing and supporting survivors (MacKay, Wolfe, and Rutherford 2017). Our

A survivor-centered approach begins with believing survivors.

Turn (2017) draws on the United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women) to define a survivor-centric approach as programming that empowers survivors by prioritizing their "rights, needs, and wishes" and avoids re-traumatizing them (8). The first and most important step to creating survivor-centered prevention education is to assume that there will be survivors present in any group that participates. Facilitators must be careful not to "other" survivors by referring to them as "they" or as a specially marked group (Krause, Miedema, Woofter, and Yount 2017). Rather, sexual violence should be framed as an issue that affects everyone, as well as an issue that is pervasive in our society and one that has become normalized. When sexual violence is presented as something that is unusual, survivors get the message that they are unusual (Bertram and Crowley 2012). This message reinforces the invisibility of the issue and the silence of survivors, and allows students who are not survivors to continue believing that this issue is not one that affects anyone that they know personally (Bertram and Crowley 2012).

It is also imperative that a survivorcentered approach to prevention education takes the time to address victim-blaming myths in detail as these myths are not only pervasive but often internalized by survivors themselves (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; Whiteside-Lantz 2003; Holland and Cortina 2017; Johnson 2012; Krakauer 2015). Bystander Intervention training should specifically centre "believing survivors" as a positive pro-social action that all community members can potentially participate in (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 27). Bystander Intervention training should encourage all community members to take responsibility for addressing violence, creating a community where that responsibility is shared rather than being placed on the survivor's shoulders alone (Creative Interventions 2012). Indeed, social isolation is a common experience for survivors of sexual violence (Bordere 2017; Bertram and Crowley 2012; Krakauer 2015). In bringing together groups of people dedicated to addressing sexual violence and in promoting a broader culture of community accountability, Bystander Intervention training acts to address this isolation. It also acts to empower survivors by allowing them to see and to join a community of people who are taking action to end violence (Bertram and Crowley 2012). The Our Turn (2017) action plan goes even further recommending a peer-topeer survivor support network on each campus where survivors can come together and share in supporting one another and advocating for survivor's rights. Bystander Intervention training is one avenue where survivors can be directed to this network.

A survivor-centered approach also means that survivors should be empowered as much as possible to make their own decisions when addressing sexual violence (Bierra et al. 2006; Linder 2017; Marine 2017; Our Turn 2017). This includes the decision to name what happened as "sexual violence" (Holland and Cortina 2017; Our Turn 2017). It is imperative that survivors are able to access avenues for support outside of formal institutions. Furthermore,

A University of Ottawa's (2015) campus climate survey demonstrated that the police are "consistently rated as not supportive of survivors of sexual violence" (25). Because of this widely held perception, it important that police are not visibly involved in prevention education efforts. Given the high numbers of survivors of university and college campuses, it is important that prevention trainings are free of police presence which survivors might find triggering. Furthermore, students who are already marginalized in campus culture, such as racialized or low-income students, might not feel comfortable turning to university or college institutions for support (Our Turn 2017). This is why alternative third-party supports should also be linked to campus, and why peer-to-peer support is also so valuable (MacKay, Wolfe, and Rutherford 2017; Lalonde 2017). Therefore, the laws concerning sexual violence and the option of involving police should be discussed in trainings while acknowledging that the law doesn't always work to hold aggressors accountable, the court process can be both empowering and traumatizing for survivors, and that there are other options for addressing sexual violence and perpetrator accountability. Similarly, the campus reporting procedure should be discussed and campus counselling services offered, while also acknowledging that there are other options for students who would feel more comfortable seeking help offcampus.

It is important to acknowledge and to make students aware of the complexities of survivor experiences. They should be made aware of various responses to trauma beyond the obvious, including freezing up or appearing calm and collected (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d.; Holland

and Cortina 2017). Students should also be encouraged not to judge the harm or impact of an act of sexual violence by a survivor's response to that violence (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d.). This is particularly important where the survivor's experience intersects with other forms of structural oppression including racism, ableism, and poverty. By teaching a feminist, Black feminist, and anti-oppression approach to the issue of sexual violence, a nuanced survivor-centered understanding can be conveyed (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 8). Furthermore, a survivorcentered approach necessarily addresses sexual violence as a systemic issue (Bordere 2017). Survivors do not want justice or healing for themselves alone, they often act in collective groups that call for broader social change in response to what they see as a systemic issue (Clark and Pino 2016; Krause, Miedema, Woofter, and Yount 2017; MacKay, Wolfe, and Rutherford 2017). By taking a systemic approach to the issue, the culture that encourages and supports violence is seen as the problem in need of fixing, rather than the survivor's psychological responses to the trauma, which is so often the target of traditional intervention methodologies (Bertram and Crowley 2012).

Educators should also be mindful that prevention education does not overly focus on the trauma experienced by survivors, thus pathologizing them (Bertram and Crowley 2012) and painting a picture of survivors as "irremediably and unidirectionally shaped by the traumatic experience" (Mardorossian 2002). Effort should be made to highlight the resiliency and power of survivor communities who are often the driving force behind successful anti-sexual violence programming

(Witeside-Lantz 2003; Senn 2011; McQueeny 2016; Scott, Singh, and Harris 2017; Linder and Myers 2017). This means also responding positively to survivor disclosures during trainings. While disclosures should never be sought out, they often surface during Bystander Training sessions. There are many reasons for this but one reason is that survivors are often afraid to talk "too much" about what has happened to them (Bordere 2017), either because they have been shut down when they have tried to speak or they self-sensor for fear of their story harming others (Cross 2017), and are thus often relieved to discover a space where sexual violence is discussed openly and frankly. Sharing their story can be incredibly empowering (Bordere 2017; Marine 2017) and can also be seen as a political act of "breaking the silence" (Krakauer 2015). What has been described as a "shroud of silence" often surrounds women's experiences with violence (Johnson 2012), and one of the reasons for encouraging prevention education is to lift this shroud rather than to reinforce it. These disclosures can also generate solidarity amongst participants. As Jen Cross (2017) writes, "... when we share these stories with our communities, we are no longer alone with the many secrets we've carried for so long." (viii). Good peer facilitators will be trained in supporting survivors and will know not to respond in ways that can have negative effects, including feeling sorry for the survivor, trying to shut the survivor down and move on, asking probing questions beyond what the survivor has already shared, and telling or implying to the survivor that their experience is not relevant to the discussion. Traditionally and historically women were "understood as unreliable witnesses to their own lives",

their knowledge of the world around them dismissed and denied (Ahmed 2017). Thus, survivor disclosures should be treated as valuable and carrying experiential knowledge (Tillipaugh 2017). Survivors should be thanked for their contribution, invited after the session to provide feedback on what they think about the training if appropriate, and also provided with information on peer-to-peer survivor support groups on or off campus.

approaches to campus sexual violence should strive as much as possible to amplify survivors' voices and experiential knowledge with the goal of empowering survivors always in the forefront.

Finally, a survivor-centered approach also includes room for emotions, especially anger. This is a topic of discussion that does and should make people angry. Anger should not be feared, shut down, seen as divisive or negative. Anger can be a powerful way of learning and of conveying knowledge. Survivors, particularly women survivors, are often pressed to deny or swallow their anger through gendered-norms and cultural expectations (Jozkowski and Wiersma-Mosely 2017; Ahmed 2017). As a result, many women survivors turn their anger inwards towards themselves (Jozkowski and Wiersma-Mosely 2017), further amplifying internalized self-blame and negative self-talk. Facilitators should be trained to carefully respond to this survivor

anger, should it be articulated, in a way that does not cause further harm. Facilitators should recognize the validity of the survivor's anger and should pick up on the underlying knowledge or point that the survivor is expressing and re-articulate this point for other participants who might be unable to see past the anger alone. Survivor-centric programming should strive as much as possible to amplify survivor voices and knowledges with the goal of survivor empowerment always in the forefront (Our Turn 2017).

Should Trainings be Single or Multi-Gendered?

There is much debate in the literature about whether or not trainings should be done in single-gendered groups as the University of New Hampshire's Bringing in the Bystander has done, or in multi-gendered and inclusive groups. Much of the existing Bystander Intervention training programs are delivered to single-gender groups (Banyard, Moynihan, and Plante 2007). Advocates for single-gendered trainings point to research that demonstrates that men are more likely to intervene if they believe that other men would also do so (Martell Consulting Services Ltd 2014). Furthermore, research has demonstrated that many men misperceive the norms of male peers, as well as other men's support for sexually violent behaviour (Fabiano, Perkins, Berkowitz, Linkenbach, and Stark 2003, 106). Others argue that all-male trainings will assist men in understanding the "commonalities of male socialization" and encourage them to "challenge other men" (Fabiano, Perkins, Berkowitz, Linkenbach and Stark 2003, 105). It has also been suggested that all-male trainings will allow men to express honest sentiments that are not hindered by a fear of

offending anyone (Mitchell and Freitag 2011). However, research has also suggested that targeting specific groups by gender "can create a barrier between presenters and audience members and hinder constructive dialogue" (Mitchell and Freitag 2011, 1002). In their discussions with male students about a proposed single-gendered, compulsory rape prevention program, Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu (2010) found that most of the men questioned felt "general disdain" towards the program because they felt singled out (278).

Others advocate just as convincingly for multi-gendered trainings (Edwards 2009; Gerritts and Runyon 2015). A mutligendered approach encourages men and women students to "work collaboratively" to address sexual violence (Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010, 283). While singlegender training advocates have pointed to peer attitudes in men's willingness to intervene, other research has demonstrated that simply being part of a male dominated peer group increases one's likelihood of sexually aggressive behaviour (Swartout 2013). Thus, it may be potentially beneficial to increase opportunities for multi-gendered socialization through Bystander Training. This would allow men who socialize primarily with other men to benefit from hearing women's opinions on sexual violence and understand better women's experiences (Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010). Indeed, the same research that shows that men misperceive their male peers' support for sexual violence also shows that they also misperceive their female peers' norms (Fabiano, Perkins, Berkowitz, Linkenbach, and Stark 2003). Moreover, men are more likely to see consent as important when they believe that the women in their peer groups also value

consent (Fabiano, Perkins, Berkowitz, Linkenbach, and Stark 2003). The words of their female peers may contrast with the portrayal of women in mainstream media and pornography as submissive and enjoying violence, and thus may cause men to reevaluate their own ideas. Indeed, research has shown that male students would prefer multi-gendered groups and the opportunity to hear women's opinions on the issue (Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010).

Gender-Sensitive – recognizing that sexual violence is part of a broad spectrum of gender-based violence primarily targeting women and girls.

Gender-Inclusive – recognizing the full continuum of gendered identities and acknowledging that sexual violence can be experienced by anyone of any gender.

It is also important to note that gender-segregated trainings leave transspectrum students vulnerable and marginalized. This type of training ends up reproducing a narrow and binary understanding of gender by design. The best approach to trainings would be to have various options including single-gendered trainings and multi-gendered trainings at

different times and geared to different groups throughout the school year. It is important that all trainings are "gendersensitive" and "gender-inclusive" (Our Turn 2017). Gender-sensitive means that trainings recognize that sexual violence is part of a broad spectrum of gender-based violence and violence against women and girls (Our Turn 2017), addressing this reality directly and openly. At the same time, a genderinclusive approach recognizes the full continuum of gender identities and acknowledges that sexual violence is experienced by people along the gender spectrum (Our Turn 2017). Language used in training should not be gender-neutral, but should address the gendered reality of sexual violence, and should also include a range of gender identities and experiences of sexual violence in the examples and case studies.

Taking a Systemic Approach to Bystander Intervention Training:

Traditional Bystander Intervention programs have tended to frame the issue of sexual violence as power neutral, often taking an ahistoric approach (Harris and Linder 2017). Rarely, is there any discussion or analysis of the complex structures of social, political, and economic power that allow for sexual violence to be perpetrated (Teten Tharp et al. 2012; Carmody 2009; Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012). Furthermore, social and cultural identities are often erased in these trainings. Discussions of sexual assault tend to be strictly heteronormative and the role of the bystander is often left as a gender-neutral, race-neutral category, effectively ignoring social power structures that can have a major impact on decisions to intervene and the effectiveness of intervention (Baily, Dunn and Msosa forethcoming). It is important for

Bystander Intervention training curriculums to go beyond the traditional, individualistic discussion of intervention and to provide analysis and discussion of the systemic factors that contribute to sexual violence in our society (Gerrits and Runyon 2015; Task Force on Misogyny, Sexism and Homophobia in Dalhousie University Faculty of Dentistry 2015; Creative Interventions 2012; Bordere 2017; Wooten 2017). As the Government of Nova Scotia (2017) notes, "An individualistic assumption about social inequalities ignores the social construction of such inequalities" and "... silence is another method of maintaining inequalities" (18). This is because social inequalities in one's own culture often appear as natural or inevitable (Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016) until they are questioned explicitly. Thus, it is important to explicitly name and address these inequalities in Bystander Intervention training programs. Addressing these systemic issues allows us to address the "root causes" of sexual violence (McQueeny 2016).

The goal of Bystander Intervention training programs is often to encourage or facilitate cultural change (EVA BC 2016; Gerrits and Runyon 2015). However, it is impossible to change something as deeply engrained in social structures as "culture" without addressing the power relations that inform and make up that same society. As the Province of Nova Scotia (2015) writes in the Breaking the Silence report, "Sexual violence is entrenched in our society to the point that actions and even the harms associated with it have become tolerated and accepted." Furthermore, Bertram and Crowley (2012) note that although sexual violence is discussed more openly than in past decades, this open discussion has not

been enough to effect real cultural change (64). Clearly, traditional approaches are not creating a strong enough impact. Other researchers have pointed out that while Bystander Intervention training may be successful in increasing pro-social interventions into individual acts of violence, the broader rape culture means that a rapist can feel supported in his violent actions even when his immediate peers explicitly disagree with him (Schwartz, DeKeseredy, Tait and Alvi 2001). Thus, while pro-social bystander interventions are a good start, students must be empowered and encouraged to promote cultural change (Hong 2017).

Taking a systemic approach means moving the discussion beyond criminalization, as the criminal justice approach tends to position the perpetrator as "the sole, sick, isolated problem [...] an aberration in an otherwise 'nonviolent' normative society" (Rojas Durazo 2011/12, 78). The criminal just lens means that aggressors are imagined as "dangerous (usually dark-skinned) strangers" and as "driven by sadistic impulses" (Bumiller 2008). By focusing on individual aggressors in this way, the broader violence of our society continues to be normalized and made invisible. Similarly, an over-reliance on victim/survivor psychology and selfhelp/care strategies also obscures the "whole system of institutional, cultural, and economic practices and social inequalities" that require political and cultural transformation to end sexual violence (Mardorossian 2002, 756-8). By discussing sexual assault as an inter-personal action between two people, we fail to understand the ways that sexual violence is, "an embodied expression of power, control and violence" (Christensen 2011, 266). As Rojas

Durazo (2011/12) writes, "Violence is never just personal" (96). Both the causes and the effects of violence expand beyond the victim/perpetrator dyad into broader community and cultural relations (Bertram and Crowley 2012).

Importantly, a structural approach will move beyond a gender-lens to address the ways that sexual violence is a form of oppression. As Harris (2017) writes, "Educators must also improve prevention strategies with the knowledge that sexual violence is about domination, colonization, and power, and not solely, if ever, about sex" (49). This means paying attention to the history of sexual violence as a tool of colonization, as well as the ways that, "... sexual violence continues to be used as a tool to confer power and privilege on white men, while subordinating and terrorizing, mentally and physically, minoritized populations" (Harris and Linder 2017, 10). Thus, Bystander Intervention trainings need to take on what Linder (2017) calls, "a historic, power-conscious perspective" (74). This approach is also survivor-centric in that it demonstrates the way sexual violence is used as a tool of oppression to "forcefully disempower survivors" (Marine 2017, 95-96). Historicizing sexual violence is also of vital importance as it demonstrates that sexual violence is not a new phenomenon and also addresses the roots of our current rape culture (Linder and Harris 2017). Most importantly, it is often students and survivor-activists who are pushing for this very systemic approach (Linder and Myers 2017; MacKay, Wolfe and Rutherford 2017).

Using an Anti-Oppression/Intersectional Feminist Framework for Bystander Intervention Training One of the most frequent critiques of existing Bystander Intervention
Programming found throughout the literature is that it fails to approach the issue of sexual violence from an Anti-Oppression and/or intersectional feminist framework (Wooten 2017; Rentschler 2017; Harris and Linder 2017). We know that sexual violence is a complex issue, one that is imbedded within cultural norms, structures of power, interpersonal as well as broader social relations, and individual attitudes and behaviours (Government of Nova Scotia

The Nova Scotia
Government Department
of Labour and Advanced
Education has committed
to an intersectional and
Black feminist approach
to addressing sexual
violence on university
and college campuses.

2017; EVA BC n.d.; Johnson and Colpitts 2013). Furthermore, rape culture itself is shaped by other forms of oppression including racism, homophobia, transphobia, ableism, and economic inequality (University of Ottawa 2015; Scott, Singh, and Harris 2017). By only addressing individual or interpersonal relationships, traditional Bystander Intervention trainings fall short of what is needed to create change in our society (Wooten 2017). Indeed, the Government of Nova Scotia recognizes the importance of taking an anti-oppressive and Black feminist approach, that includes intersectionality, stating that, "... all recommendations in this report are based on feminist, Black feminist and anti-oppressive frameworks [...] It is suggested that when implementing these recommendations, Nova Scotia universities continue to use these frameworks" (2017, 6). The report similarly recommends that Anti-Oppression and Black feminist approaches to addressing sexual violence be accepted as best practices for preventing and understanding sexual violence (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 11). Other anti-violence organizations, educators and researchers affirm that an Anti-Oppression/Intersectional framework is imperative to prevention education (Gerrits and Runyon 2015; Bay-Cheng and Burns 2016; Our Turn 2017).

An "identity-neutral" approach is not effective in truly addressing the realities of sexual violence (McQueeny 2016; Harris and Linder 2017; Worthen and Wallace 2017). Marginalized populations experience sexual violence at disproportionately high rates (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; Belknap 2010; Loya 2014; Weiser 2017; Gross et al. 2006; Harris and Linder 2017; Tillipaugh 2017; Our Turn 2017). Marginalized people are also far more likely to be "discredited" as victims or witnesses to sexual assault (Weiser 2017; McQueeny 2016; Johnson 2012; Wooten 2017; Donovan and Williams 2002; Bertram and Crowley 2012; George and Martinez 2002; Scott, Singh, and Harris 2017; Our Turn 2017), and report more difficulty in finding help on campus (Potter 2016; McQueeny 2016; Solokoff and Dupont 2005; Kaukinen 2004; Rentschler 2017; Stermac, Horowitz, and Bance 2017). For training to be effective, a diverse range of participants must be able to see themselves reflected in the curriculum material (U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014; Tabachnick 2009; Potter and

Stapleton, 2011; Worthen and Wallace 2017; Palacios and Aguilar 2017). In particular, LGBTQ students are often critical of the heteronormative bias of most Bystander Intervention curriculums, and report feeling disconnected from the trainings and marginalized (Worthen and Wallace 2017). At the same time, LGB and TGQN students are more likely than heterosexual and cis-gendered students to see sexual violence as a problem on their campuses (Worthen and Wallace 2017; Cantor et al. 2015). Thus, Bystander Training programs are missing a group of students on campus most likely to see the need for Bystander Training. When an intersectional approach is not adopted, the re-traumatization of survivors from marginalized groups is more likely (Baily, Dunn, and Msosa forthcoming).

An Anti-Oppression framework for addressing sexual violence begins with the understanding that, "At the most basic level sexual violence happens because society values some people more than others" (Whiteside-Lantz 2003, 146). Anti-Oppression education is defined by the Government of Nova Scotia (2017) as education which acts to, "change oppressive attitudes and behaviours which contribute to inequalities in society. Sexual violence, as an act of gendered oppression, will not end until all systems of power, privilege, and oppression" are eliminated (8). Furthermore, an Anti-Oppressive approach to addressing sexual violence is one that acknowledges the impacts of power, privilege, and systemic oppression on violence (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; Harris and Linder 2017; Palacios and Aguilar 2017). In particular this means addressing economic inequality, ongoing settler colonialism, racism, and sexism, as well as, deeply entrenched

attitudes and biases (Johnson and Colpitts 2013). The intersectional framework comes out of Black Feminist thought and practice (Government of Nova Scotia 2017). This framework understands that all systemic oppressions in our society (e.g. sexism, racism, economic inequalities, etc...) are interconnected (Government of Nova Scotia 2017) and thus cannot be divided in our analysis or our prevention work (Gerrits and Runyon 2015). Black Feminist scholar Kimberle Crenshaw introduced Intersectional analysis when she challenged both white feminism and sexism in the Black community to demonstrate how sexism and racism are not separate forms of oppression for most Black women (Crenshaw 1989). Her main point was not that oppressions are "additive" (ie. Racism + sexism = Black women's experiences), but rather to understand the ways that Black Women's experiences of sexual violence are qualitatively different from non-Black women (Crenshaw 1989). An intersectional approach to sexual violence allows us a more complete understanding of the issue and its causes (Worthen and Wallace 2017). This is why feminists who adopt an intersectional approach urge us not to "downplay differences" (McQueeny 2016). Indeed, by attending specifically to our differences and the systems of oppression that create those differences, we can see the multitude of ways that sexual violence operates.

What does an Anti-Oppression/Intersectional approach to Bystander Intervention look like in practice? One key element of this type of training is to challenge sexism, homo and transphobia, racism, and other forms of oppression that intersect with sexual violence (SAFER & V-Day 2013; Gerrits and Runyon 2015). The

Government of Nova Scotia (2017) recommends that, '...participants should explore and understand the role of privileged groups and systems of power in creating and maintaining social norms..." (40). It is also necessary to examine and critically analyze the hierarchies of power within our society that reproduce sexual violence as a norm (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 42). These power dynamics must be intentionally named and discussed within historic context (Linder 2017). Participants should be given a framework, through the Anti-Oppression approach, to understand themselves and their communities within hierarchies of power (Government of Nova Scotia 2017). This will allow them to address different experiences of sexual violence and strategize different methods of intervention (Centers

In order to counter feelings of hopelessness in the face of ongoing sexual violence, it is important to give students the skills for social change.

for Disease Control and Prevention 2014; Harris and Linder 2017). It is imperative that an Anti-Oppression approach empower participants with strategies for social change as well as the tools to challenge social inequalities (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; Garcia and Melendez 1997). This will reduce feelings of hopelessness and the sense of being overwhelmed in the face of ongoing violence (Government of Nova Scotia 2017).

One key element of any Anti-Oppression/Intersectional framework is an analysis and discussion of the ways that racism shapes the realities of sexual violence in our society (Linder 2017). Victim blaming myths need to be discussed and disproved in detail with a specific focus on racist victim-blaming statements that hold women of colour more responsible for their own assaults than white women (Wooten 2017). Furthermore, an Anti-Oppression approach should directly challenge racist, classist and Islamaphobic myths that sexual violence is more prominent in some cultures, religious groups, or socio-economic classes (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d.; Linder 2017; Harris and Hanchey 2014; Iverson 2017) When addressing bystanders, research has demonstrated that while Black students and LGB students report being more likely to intervene into situations involving sexual violence these students are often subject to racist or homophobic backlash when they do (Baily, Dunn and Msosa forthcoming). For example, student reporter at the University of Ottawa Yasmine Mehdi, received messages accusing her of trying to implement Sharia Law on campus, as well as threats of violence, when she exposed a pub crawl held by student leaders that involved elements of sexually violent and sexually coercive behaviour (Schnurr 2016). Thus, participants should be encouraged to discuss and think about the multiple risks of intervention and should be given tools for intervention that are applicable to other forms of problematic behaviour such as racist comments, homophobic taunting, and violence directed at trans people.

Key Elements of Successful Bystander Training Programs:

Skills Building

Research consistently demonstrates that the best Bystander Intervention training programs offer opportunities for skills building (EVA BC n.d.; U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014b; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014; Gerrits and Runyon 2015; Christensen 2013; Mitchell and Freitag 2011; Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016; Palacios and Aguilar 2017; Nation et al. 2003). Skills building should be a component of "active learning experiences" embedded into bystander training programs (EVA BC n.d.; U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014a). Possibilities for active learning include: roleplaying; interactive theatre; focused dialogue and other like methods. Students feel more confident when they have had a chance to practice their skills as bystanders and increased confidence means that they are more likely to actually intervene (U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014b; Tabachnick 2009; Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016). Indeed one of the biggest reported barriers to intervention is that people are unsure of how to best intervene and lack confidence in their ability to help (U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014b; Bennett, Banyard, and Garnhart 2014). Research has demonstrated that programs based on "information alone" are ineffective (Gerrits and Runyon 2015). In generating discussion, these interactive learning experiences work best when they allow students to speak freely and honestly about their experiences (Berkowitz 2004).

The active learning methods that are used during skills building sessions are also useful in reaching learners who do not respond as well to traditional teaching methods, reaching a broader audience, and increasing knowledge retention (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014: Gerrits and Runyon 2015). The ability to engage learners in the process of learning, rather than leaving them as passive spectators (as in lectures or films) is associated with more positive outcomes and changes in behaviour (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014; Gerrits and Runyon 2015; Mitchell and Freitag 2011). Skills building is most successful when it allows students to engage actively with examples that are true to their life experiences (Mitchell and Freitag 2011; Gerrits and Runyon 2015). Skills building sessions that are peer-facilitated create a

Activists, academics and researchers all agree that rape culture is pervasive on Canadian postsecondary campuses.

pedagogical environment that fosters transformative learning (Gerrits and Runyon 2015). Furthermore, skills building exercises allow students to reflect on their safety and boundaries in intervening (Banyard, Moynihan, and Plante 2007). This also allows students to become comfortable drawing on "helping scripts" that provide practical ways to approach vulnerable persons and to hold those who harm accountable (Bennett, Banyard and Edwards, 2017). These "helping scripts" are particularly useful in interrupting patriarchal

narratives of how men should intervene through violence or chivalry, instead offering men new behaviours to role model (Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010, 281).

Discussion of Rape Myths and Rape Culture

The best Bystander Intervention training programs are those that specifically and explicitly discuss and deconstruct key rape myths and other elements of rape culture (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; Gerrits and Runyon 2015; California Coalition Against Sexual Assault 2015; Hong 2017). The general consensus of activists, academics, researchers and students is that rape culture is pervasive on post-secondary campuses (Gladu 2017; METRAC 2014; Martell Consulting Service Ltd 2014b; University of Ottawa 2015; Quinlan, Clarke and Miller 2016; Clark and Pino 2016). Rape myths are more commonly reported as believable by male students and all-male groups such as fraternities and sports teams (McMahon 2010; Harris and Linder 2017). For example, the St. Mary's University (2013) report into sexual violence on campus found that many students felt uncomfortable with the "macho vibe" emanating from the "jock culture" at SMU (St. Mary's University President's Council 2013). However, even when campuses are actively addressing rape culture on campus, these interventions must be ongoing and indepth since rape culture is continuously and insidiously reproduced and disseminated in broader culture. Indeed, approaches that criticize or blame student or youth culture alone are missing the major influence of broader social norms (St. Mary's University President's Council 2013; Harris and Linder 2017). Broader Canadian culture is replete

with victim blaming attitudes, hypersexualization and the objectification of women and girls, and a broad tolerance for violence (St. Mary's University President's Council 2013; Quinlan 2017b).

There are many reasons why addressing rape myths directly and deconstructing them is important (Gerrits and Runyon 2015; Weiser 2017). First of all, as Ikeda and Rosser (2009) explain, "Rape is not accidental, and it is not isolated. It thrives in a culture that is tolerant of violence, especially violence against women" (40). Moreover, research has demonstrated that the negative effects of trauma are greater when a survivor has internalized rape myths as fact engaging in self-blame (Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 27). These survivors are also less likely to seek help or to define what happened to them as assault (Johnson 2012, 623-4). In addition, people who do not believe in rape myths have been shown to be more likely to want to help victims (Armstrong and Mahone 2017). On the other hand, people who do believe in rape myths are more likely to see victims as dangerously naïve and are often unable to empathize with victims (Rich, Utley, Janke and Moldoveanu 2010). Deconstructing rape myths is an important way of facilitating support for survivors (Weiser 2017).

Secondly, rape myths that excuse perpetrator behaviour allow aggressors to "side step" responsibility (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre, n.d.; Johnson 2012; Schwartz, DeKesseredy, Tait, and Alvi 2001). Men who believe in rape myths are more likely to report that they would be sexually violent or coercive (Johnson 2012, 6123-4). Furthermore, men who believe in rape myths are also more likely to view

themselves as victims of vengeful women (Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010). Research demonstrates that those who have a high level of belief in rape myths are less likely to believe that rape is an important social problem, and are also more likely to blame survivors and downplay the trauma of rape (Worthen and Wallace 2017, 182). The widespread acceptance of rape myths fosters a "male-dominated ideology" that excuses and normalizes the actions of aggressors (Bannon et al. 2013, 75). Indeed, Rape Myths "help men individually and as a class to rationalize their sexual abuses or to distinguish their own 'natural' sexual aggression or ordinary sexual opportunism from the really culpable and injurious kind practiced by those aberrant, truly violent, genuinely scary men the criminal law is meant to isolate and jail" (Johnson 2012, 625). Within rape culture there are numerous scripts that excuse the actions of sexually aggressive men allowing them to claim that their actions do not constitute rape (Schwartz, DeKesseredy, Tait, and Alvi 2001). Aggressors actively draw upon these myths to excuse their behaviours. For example, Daniel Katsnelson, who along with another man broke into the dorm rooms of students at York University in 2007 and sexually assaulted two separate women, stated after his trial that he hoped the women had learned to "lock their doors," deploying the myth that the victims were partially to blame for their own assault (Trusolino 2017). Indeed, the most common of all defenses that aggressors can draw upon is to blame the victim (Curtis 1997). The culture of victim blaming creates a "shroud of silence" (Johnson 2012, 614) around survivors who must contend with cultural depictions of sexual violence as something that victims cause, as well as their own

internalized victim-blaming narratives. This silence then adds to the circle of protection around aggressors.

Culturally, Rape Myths allow a false sense of security to permeate our society, allowing us to see rape as something that is uncommon and something that victims' behaviours have led to (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre, n.d.). This perpetuates the false belief that "rooting out the perpetrators" will end sexual violence on campus (Hong 2017). When we see the perpetrator as "bad apple", a "sick" person, or an isolated problem, we disavow the violent culture that allows these behaviours and attitudes to flourish (Rojas Durazo 2011/12). Furthermore, when rapists are constructed as "the other", we tend not to interrogate our own accountability in shaping rape culture (Rich, Utley, Janke and Moldoveanu 2010; Trusolino 2017). On campus, rape culture is often paired with hypersexualization where men commonly use the language of "kill counts" to brag about hook-ups and where women are labelled as "sluts" for crossing the "sexual hook-up count" (Horsman, and Cormack 2016, 10). Even more dangerous is that the labelling of women as "sluts" allows these women to then become targets for sexual assault and harassment because aggressors can say that "she wanted it" (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre, n.d.). It is precisely this culture that tolerates and supports sexual violence that many survivors find most harmful and traumatic in the way that it continues to impact survivors long after their experience of sexual assault (Clark and Pino 2016). Research suggests that a campus culture that permits sexual harassment and teasing is associated with an increased risk for sexual violence (DeGue et al. 2013). Students should be taught and

encouraged to speak out against these harmful cultural norms (Kleinsasser, Jouriles, McDonald, and Rosenfield 2015; Senn 2011).

One of the most pernicious rape myths in our society is the widespread belief that women commonly lie about sexual assault and target "innocent men".

One of the most pernicious and important myths to address in detail is the belief that women commonly lie about sexual assault and target "innocent men" (Weiser 2017, 46; Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d.). Especially with the appointment of Betsy DeVos in the U.S. there has been a widespread sentiment that innocent men are being "unfairly persecuted" (Weiser 2017, 46). These myths are so pervasive that even large numbers of law enforcement and legal professionals believe that women commonly lie about assault (Weiser 2017, 47; Johnson 2012, 614). It is absolutely necessary to address this myth openly and frankly when addressing sexual violence on campus (Weiser 2017). Another specific myth which must be discussed in detail is the myth that consent is always present in relationships. Studies have shown that people are much more likely to blame the victim when he or she has a relationship with the perpetrator (Bennett, Banyard, and Edwards 2017). Another myth that must be addressed is the idea that "sexual communication, negotiation, and equality are unnecessary or

impossible in the face of strong passion..." (Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016, 460). This myth widely disseminated throughout popular entertainment culture and must be discussed in detail and replaced with more healthy models of negotiating consent. Students must be taught how to make interventions into the cultural sphere, addressing rape culture directly (Gerrits and Baily 2015; Senn 2011; Christensen 2013).

A Focus on Aggressors

Most sexual violence education campaigns and programs avoid any in-depth discussion of aggressors altogether (Hong 2017). This approach is problematic for many reasons. Bystander Intervention training programs will never be successful if participants cannot get past the disbelief that comes when someone you know and like is accused of sexual violence. Students must be taught that aggressors are often not "creepy strangers" in order to counter-act the disbelief that comes when a "nice guy" is accused of sexual assault (Whiteside-Lantz 2003; Linder 2017; Trusolino 2017). As Hong (2017) argues, the traditional approach to sexual violence prevention education positions aggressors as, "unusual others who have deficits in moral judgement, character, or family upbringing" (33). Students should be taught that many perpetrators of sexual violence (at least 50%) are married or in relationships at the time of the assault, have children, and are considered responsible members of the community (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d.). This must be discussed in order to counteract the myth that aggressors of sexual violence are mentally ill or sexually starved (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d.). On campus, the particular myth that aggressors

are (often dark-skinned) others from off-campus must be countered in order to address the reality that "boys" from "good families" also commit sexual assault (Trusolino 2017, 85).

Moreover, aggressors are not a small and isolated group on campus. Research demonstrates that one third of college men have perpetrated sexual assault and that nine percent of these men are reoffenders (Abbey and McAuslan 2004; quoted in Government of Nova Scotia 2017). Research by Malamuth on male "attraction to sexual aggression" found that between 16-20% of men would "commit rape" if they were certain they could get away with it, and a further 36-44% would "force a woman to have sex" if they were certain they would not get caught (Malamuth 1989 cited in Kimmel 2009, 224). Exclusively male social settings including athletic teams, fraternities, and single-sex dormitories are all positively associated with higher rates of reported sexual violence (Fogel 2017; Moynihan et al. 2011; Schwartz, DeKeseredy, Tait, and Alvi 2001). In particular, research has shown that student athletes are more than five times more likely to report perpetrating sexual violence than non-athletes (Finn 1995; Teten Tharp et al. 2012). In a review of media report sexual assaults on Canadian university campuses over the past ten years, Curtis Fogel (2017) found that 23% involved male athletes as alleged perpetrators (140). Studies demonstrate that aggressors of campus sexual violence are often known to the victim as classmates, friends, boyfriends, or ex-boyfriends, in that order (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b, 8).

Students should be taught about aggressors from an evidence based perspective (Gerrits and Runyon 2015) that stresses the predatory nature of sexual violence (St. Mary's President's Council 2013). In reality, aggressors are people who are motivated to commit sexual violence and then look for opportunities where they have the upper-hand or advantage in order to carry out their wishes (Schwartz, DeKeseredy, Tait and Alvi 2001). It is especially important to point out that most assaults are premeditated and involve some planning, coercion, force or threats (EVA BC n.d.). For male aggressors, research has shown that acceptance of violence, hypermasculinity, traditional gender roles, social norms supportive of sexual violence, male sexual entitlement, excessive alcohol use and weak laws or policies increase the risk of perpetration (Basile et al. 2016). Other risk factors include bullying behaviour in middle school (Basile et al. 2016). Having friends who perpetrate sexual violence is also shown to increase one's risk for perpetrating sexual violence (Teten Tharp et al. 2012). Visiting strip clubs, viewing violent pornography, paying for sex, and being unconcerned with condom use were also positively associated with perpetration of sexual violence (Teten Tharp et al. 2012). College men who view sex as the "goal" of a date were more likely to perpetrate sexual violence (Teten Tharp et al. 2012). Furthermore, "general aggressiveness" and acceptance of violence as "normative and instrumental", as well as anger, hostility and suspicion towards women were also associated with high levels of perpetration (Teten Tharp et al. 2012; DeGue et al. 2013; Curtis 1997).

When sexual violence happens in intimate relationships, research shows that

aggressors frequently display other violent or abusive behaviours such as, minimizing conflicts through avoidance, using controlling behaviours, using emotional withdrawal as punishment, and using

23% of media reported sexual assaults on Canadian Campuses over the past 10 years have involved male athletes as the alleged perpetrators.

physical or verbal coercion and violence in solving relationship problems (Teten Tharp et al. 2012; Curtis 1997). In general, men who perpetrate sexual violence show a range of violent behaviours towards both partners and non-partners demonstrating an "adversarial approach to interactions with women" (Teten Tharp et al. 2012, 139). Community organizations with years of experience holding aggressors accountable report that common perspectives held by aggressors in relationships include denial, minimization of harm or of their role in the violence, and victim blaming (Creative Interventions 2012). Others point to aggressors use of "secrecy" and silence, as well as attacking the credibility of the victim (Krakauer 2015). It is important that students are taught to respond to these perpetrator diversion tactics.

In the cases where aggressors are strangers, research has shown that they will often make some sort of "initial contact" with the victim, offering to carry her groceries, give her a drive, or to walk her home (Whiteside-Lantz 2003). Similarly, these aggressors body language often

involves "body posturing" such as blocking a doorway or pathway, physically startling someone, or standing over them in intimidating manner (Curtis 1997). For aggressors who abuse a position of trust or authority, narcissistic personality traits are often predictive of sexually violent behaviour (Testa 2002). Indeed, the #MeToo movement's spread into academia has shown that there are a number of serial perpetrators who use their positions as well-regarded academics in order to coerce and harass (often young) women into sexually violent relationships.

Repeat perpetrators are responsible for up to 90% of campus sexual assaults.

It is important to pay attention to patterns of repeat perpetration. Some scholars have argued that repeat perpetrators commit the majority of campus sexual assaults, up to 90% (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b; Daigle, Fisher and Cullen 2008). Research tells us that male college students who have perpetrated more than one assault are more likely to hold hostile attitudes towards women (Abbey and McAuslan 2004). Research also shows that repeat perpetrators deliberately target those that they see as vulnerable (EVA BC n.d.). Furthermore, these repeat perpetrators often use alcohol to intoxicate those that they are targeting (Martell Consulting Ltd. 2014b). Despite the prevalence of repeat perpetration, few sexual violence prevention programs address this issue (METRAC 2014). Students must be taught to identify patterns of behaviour that could indicate a

propensity for sexual violence (Mitchell and Freitag 2011).

In terms of targeting victims, research has shown that a peer-culture that objectifies women, fosters competition in obtaining sex, and attaches "sexual conquests" to reputation creates an environment that permits this targeting. Furthermore, those who were viewed with degradation, as 'less likable", and as unintelligent were consistently rated as "legitimate targets" of sexual assault (Murnen 2000, cited in Jozkowski and Wiersma-Mosely 2017, 95). The targeting of individuals who make less sympathetic victims is bolstered by the "bros before hos" attitude creating a codes of silence, attitudes of entitlement, and expectations of impunity (Kimmel 2009). As Kimmel (2009) argues, "Boys and men learn to be silent in the face of other men's violence" (61). We must teach students to link the culture of "slut shaming", bullying and isolation, to the predatory targeting of victims. They should be able to understand how these cultures perpetuate vulnerability. Another issue that should be addressed directly in training programs is the common response of those accused of sexual violence of an honest but mistaken belief about consent. Study after study have debunked this as a myth demonstrating that in most cases the perpetrator knows or suspects that the victim has not or cannot consent but proceeds anyway (Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski and Peterson 2016). Indeed, a high percentage of sexual assaults involve threats or physical force, meaning that rape is not a result of miscommunication around consent (Potter 2016). Aggressors have a "self-interested capacity for misunderstanding" (Kitzinger and Frith 1999). They may believe that their victim is

currently unwilling but will eventually become aroused and enjoy it, a common theme in mainstream pornography. They might believe in the myth of "token resistance" (Beres 2010). They may not care about their victims' feelings or desires at all or they may intend to hurt or humiliate their victim (Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski and Peterson 2016). Students should be taught to see through the myth of miscommunication. Trainings must also include information on where to access treatment for behaviour change for those who have crossed boundaries or caused harm (EVA BC 2016, 32). This includes discussion of "protective factors", or factors that lower the risk of perpetrating sexual violence. These factors include: emotional health, empathy, fear of "loss of face", and community connectedness (Teten Tharp et al. 2012).

Linking Sexual Violence and Alcohol

Many Bystander Intervention training programs have problematic approaches to discussing alcohol and sexual violence. They either focus too much on women's decisions to drink and how much, perpetuating a culture of victim blaming, or they avoid discussing alcohol at all. While we should never imply that women who drink are in some way responsible for the assault against their person, we should encourage honest and open discussions about the relationship between alcohol and sexual violence in a way that focuses on perpetrator behaviour (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; Martell Consulting Services Ltd. 2014b). There are clear, evidence-based links between alcohol and the perpetration of sexual violence. 50% of sexual assaults among university and college students involve alcohol (EVA BC n.d.). In fact,

alcohol is the most common "date rape" drug. At the same time, "drug-facilitated sexual assault" has increased in prevalence in Canada over the past fifteen years (Quinlan, Clarke, and Miller 2016, 41). Aggressors may purposefully use alcohol to intoxicate victims making them unable to fight off their advances (Government of Nova Scotia 2017; University of Ottawa 2015; Testa 2002). Others who are motivated to perpetrate sexual violence will use parties and bars as an opportunity to seek out women who are too intoxicated to resist (Graham et al. 2014; Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016). Indeed, the sexual assault of people who "intoxicated to the point of incapacitation" is widespread on college campuses (Cantor et al. 2015 cited in Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016). Other times alcohol or drunkenness is used to excuse perpetrator behaviour (Martell Consulting Services 2014b; METRAC 2014; Potter 2016; Horsman and Cormack 2016; Johnson and Colpitts 2013; Kimmel 2009). This happens even though drunkenness is not a legitimate defence for committing any other crime in the Canadian criminal justice system. Still others use the "permissive environment" of bars in order to push past the limits and boundaries of consent in their sexual advances (Quinlan 2017b, 5). In 40% of cases of sexual assault the perpetrator was drinking (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d., 258). Nova Scotia has the third highest rate of heavy drinking following the Yukon and North West Territories making this discussion especially pertinent (Martell Consulting Services Ltd. 2014a). A Students Nova Scotia (2014a) report on campus drinking writes that, "The prevailing attitude towards drinking was characterized as, "You are not experiencing university correctly if

you are not partying" (Martell Consulting Services Ltd. 2014a, 11). In developing a uniquely Nova Scotian approach to challenging campus sexual violence, discussions about the ways that alcohol contributes to this problem must be central.

In developing a uniquely Nova Scotian approach to challenging campus sexual violence, discussions about the multiple ways that alcohol contributes to this problem must be central.

There are many studies linking alcohol consumption to perpetration of sexual violence. For example, excessive and frequent alcohol use has consistently been shown to increase the risk that a man will perpetrate sexual violence (Teten Tharp et al. 2012; Schwartz, DeKeseredy, Tait, and Alvi 2001). In a study of acquaintance rape (the most common form of sexual assault on college campuses) Koss (1988) found that 75 percent of men who reported perpetrating this type of sexual violence also reported taking drugs or consuming alcohol "just prior to the rape" (cited in Curtis 1997). Research also demonstrates that drinking alcohol makes men more likely to objectify women, and at the same time reduce their focus on her thoughts, feelings and desires (Gervais, DeLillo, and McChargue 2014 cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017). Furthermore, heavier drinking by the perpetrator has been demonstrated to

increase the physical severity of the sexual assault (Parkhill, Abbey, & Jacques-Tiura 2009 cited in Gervais, DeLillo, and McChargue 2014). Women assaulted by a man who had been drinking are five times more likely to report a physical injury obtained during the assault (Testa 2002, 1248). Moreover, heavy drinking has been shown to increase the level of sexual aggression enacted by men in laboratory studies (DeGue et al. 2013; Testa 2002; Tuliao and McChargue 2014). On the other hand Graham et al. (2014) observed sexually aggressive advances in over 100 large bars and nightclubs and found that, "The level of invasiveness was related to the targets' levels of intoxication but not the initiators' level of intoxication..." (cited in Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2106, 461). Testa (2002) states that "college men who reported rape or attempted rape [...] were more likely to meet the diagnosis for alcohol abuse or dependence (53%) compared with men from the same population who reported only nonviolent sexual intercourse (25%)" (1241). How often a male perpetrator personally used alcohol to become intoxicated also predicted their use of alcohol as a "strategy to obtain sex" (Testa 2002). Furthermore, Testa (2002) reports that experimental research has demonstrated a pharmacological effect of alcohol in reducing the capacity of the intoxicated person to "attend to multiple cues and to look beyond the most salient aspects of the situation" as well as "difficulty perceiving and interpreting less salient and ambiguous inhibitory cues, such as the woman's sexual intentions or her resistance to sexual advances" (1251). Furthermore, intoxicated men are more likely to "perceive sexual intent in women" than sober men (Abbey,

Zawacki, & Buck 2005; Farris, Treat, & Vicken 2010; cited in Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016). This means that even non-predatory men may ignore the cues and body language that go into the negotiation of consent when intoxicated. Studies also reported a "greater persistence in sexual advances and perceived initiation of intercourse as more likely" in men who were drinking compared to sober men (Testa 2002, 1253).

From the perspective of the survivor, drinking alcohol before or during the assault is likely to increase a survivor's internalized self-blame and may make the survivor less likely to report the assault or to seek help (Whiteside-Lantz 2003; Holland and Cortina 2017). A common rape myth is that women who feel confused after a night of heavy drinking will make a false claim of rape. Indeed, even security staff that Martell Consulting Services Ltd. interviewed in their report on campus sexual violence for Students NS, drew on victim blaming myths by saying things like, "young women use alcohol to not take responsibility for their actions" (Martell Consulting Services 2014b). Statistician Holly Johnson (2012) reports that police in Canada sometimes rely upon this same myth in order to classify cases as "unfounded" (628). However, Weiser (2017) argues that, "...no research to date that suggests circumstances involving alcohol consumption are associated with false reporting" (55). To debunk this myth, students should be made aware of this fact and at the same time presented with all of the research discussed above linking alcohol consumption with perpetration of sexual violence. All of this discussed in detail should be used to counter the broader, overarching myth that women's binge drinking is the problem rather than men's

sexual violence (Armstrong and Mahone 2017). A survivor activist contributing to Clark and Pino's (2016) We Believe You anthology wrote, "Somebody posted on a girl's [residence room] door, 'It's not rape if it's a freshman.' That very much characterizes my experience: 'You were young and naïve and you drank too much; how could this poor boy not take advantage of that?" (114). The myth that drinking alcohol in general is indicative of sexual consent or intention (Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016) must also be addressed in detail during Bystander Intervention training. Furthermore, when the survivor is male, the myth that his ability to "get an erection" means that he is able to consent even when intoxicated (Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016) must also be debunked. Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski and Peterson (2016) argue that the cultural myth that "drunk sex is harmless" must be our starting point in addressing these myths.

Other researchers have examined the ways that groups of men can act in concert to create the conditions for "party rape" by using lots of alcohol and low level coercion, persuasion, manipulation of situations so that women cannot leave, or low levels of force by blocking doorways or making it difficult for a woman to stand up (Armstrong, Sweeney, and Hamilton 2006 cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017). As Kimmel (2008) writes, in this campus culture, "Getting drunk, and getting her drunk, is seen as foreplay - whatever happens after that has already been declared consensual" (219). One study of over 264 college men across 22 universities found that 90 percent of the respondents reported acting sexually aggressive in party settings,

leading the researchers to see this behaviour as "normative" in the college party scene (Thompson and Cracco 2008 cited in Rich, Utley, Janke, and Moldoveanu 2010, 269). Several other reports and studies noted that all-male peer groups who host parties are able to use their position as hosts to create the conditions for alcohol-facilitated sexual violence (Teten Tharp et al. 2013). Holland and Cortina (2017) argue that, "Taking advantage of women who are drunk is accepted, and even expected, in some male peer groups..." (61). In their report on campus sexual violence for Students NS, Martell Consulting Services Ltd. (2014b) writes that, "In some university towns, some off- and on-campus student housing environments have cultures similar to fraternity cultures" (ii). The student leaders they spoke with for this report spoke of "the perfect storm" referring to the amalgamation of the culture of heavy drinking with the culture of hyper-sexualization and the objectification of women (Martell Consulting Services Ltd. 2014b). The St. Mary's University President's Council (2013) report similarly states that, "Students indicated that there is significant pressure to drink and to be sexually active" (44). They also heard from some students that, "...peers expect and encourage each other to be sexually active and it can be hard to fit in if one chooses not to be" (St. Mary's University President's Council 2013, 70). A student focus group on campus safety at St. FX similarly heard that, "drinking and drug culture" were a "contributor to the problem of violence against women" especially because of the accompanying, "normalized hook-up culture (where attaining consent is not prioritized)" (MacDonald, Mtetwa, and Ndomo 2013, 20). As Horsman and Cormack (2016) write, the hookup culture

on university campuses in Canada is one where men who refuse to participate eagerly and competitively have their masculinity called into question and women who are "manipulated into sex" become an "object of derision" who are widely seen as having failed a "test" (9-10). All of this demonstrates how groups of men, and the broader cultures on campus, including the culture of security staff and administrators, contributes to an environment where alcohol and sexual violence converge.

At the same time, programming around alcohol use should not focus on danger and bad behaviour alone. Students often find belonging and meaning in drinking culture (Armstrong, Sweeney and Hamilton 2006). Indeed, "Partying, including alcohol consumption, is a dominant form of socialization among college students and is recognized as such by individuals who do and do not participate in partying (Armstrong, Sweeney and Hamilton 2006 cited in Jozkowski and Wiersma-Mosely 2017, 90). By only focusing on the negative parts of this culture, programming loses touch with students' experiences. As Armstrong, Sweeney and Hamilton (2006) argue, "Finding fault with the party scene potentially threatens meaningful identities and lifestyles" (492).

Developing Communities of Accountability

Traditional Bystander Training Programs tend to focus on interrupting onetime, individual situations. However, approaches to Bystander Intervention that focus solely on the individual are unlikely to be effective (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014). It is important to expand this to include taking steps as Bystanders to build communities of accountability (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012). There are several reasons why this important. First, sexual violence not only affects the individual survivor but when it is pervasive it affects the entire community. Often times even a single act of sexual violence reverberates out from the immediate survivor to the persons supporting the survivor to bystanders and witnesses and so on. Furthermore, because so many survivors stay silent about their experiences, addressing sexual violence at the community level is one way to reach those survivors indirectly. Part of Bystander Intervention training should therefore be to encourage a shift in public opinion from viewing sexual violence as the problem of the individual survivor to the problem of the entire community (New York State Department of Health n.d.; Creative Interventions 2012; Haaken 2017; Christensen 2013; Mitchell and Frietag 2011). This cultural shift will not be successful if it is not led by upper campus administration. Instead of putting all of the focus on responding one by one to individual survivors, campus administrators should carefully create messaging and programming that reaches out to all survivors on campus, whether they choose to report their assault or not. Bystander Intervention training is one way of effecting this shift. As Gerrits and Runyon (2015) argue, "Our research suggests that antisexual assault education can be a way of establishing community and creating spaces where people can unlearn rape culture and develop skills to help others unlearn harmful beliefs, attitudes, and behaviours" (19). The social support developed in a multi-session training program would indeed go a long

way in creating a feeling of support for participants who later intervene into situations of sexual violence (Tabachnick 2009, 28). Research has demonstrated that a sense of community belonging alone is often a factor positively associated with intention to intervene as a pro-social bystander (Armstrong and Mahone 2017; Banyard 2008; Bennett, Banyard, and Garnhart 2014).

Instead of putting all of the focus on responding to survivors one by one, campus administrators should carefully craft messaging and programming that reaches out to all survivors on campus, whether they choose to report/disclose their assault or not.

Student survivors are more likely to disclose experiences of sexual violence to friends, roommates and other peers than they are to formal supports or the police (Sable et al. 2006; Felson and Pare 2005; EVA BC 2016; Fisher, Daigle & Cullen 2010; Stermac, Horowitz, and Bance 2017). Survivors are also more likely to view support from friends that they have a personal and emotional connection with as something that is beneficial than they are to view help from an anonymous phone line or a councillor (Holland and Cortina 2017). Furthermore, the first response that a survivor receives will often impact their

likelihood of both reporting the assault and accessing help (Ahrens, Campbell, Ternier-Thames, Wasco & Sefl 2007; Starzynski, Ullman, Filipas & Townsend, 2005; Ullman, 1996; Holland and Cortina 2017; Stermac, Horowitz, and Bance 2017). Creating communities where people have the skills and sensitivity to respond to survivors will foster the kind of community care ethic that will support survivor healing (Creative Interventions 2012). Indeed, university and college campuses are the ideal places to create, "model[s] of a more caring and respectful society" (St. Mary's President's Council 2013, 7). Part of creating a "safe" community for both bystanders and survivors means "changing community contexts" and "peer norms" (U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women 2014, 3). This also means directly challenging the culture of "Maritime civility in Nova Scotia" where complaining is seen as "rocking the boat" (Task Force on Misogyny, Sexism and Homophobia in Dalhousie University Faculty of Dentistry 2015, 39). This attitude was also reflected in discussion groups at St.FX University in 2014 where students mentioned the desire to "fit in" as a major factor making them reluctant to complain or intervene into sexual violence (Ndomo and Barnes 2014, 11). This is an especially important factor to address on small and close knit campuses. Moreover, ending sexual violence means that we must move beyond changing law and policy alone. As SAFER's national study on Student Anti-Rape Activists states, "Students in our study identified a disconnect between policy and practice – too often having a good policy was not enough, as the conditions of students' lives and campus culture remained unchanged" (SAFER 2013, 30). Therefore we must

introduce ways for bystanders to effect precisely this kind of cultural change.

Shifting culture and encouraging support for survivors are two of the main elements of communities of accountability. Another is to encourage accountability in and of itself. The California Coalition Against Sexual Assault (2015) recommends Bystander Trainings that include, "methods of encouraging peer support for victims and the imposition of sanctions on offenders" (59). It is important that we move beyond sanctions that are imposed by the law and Student Codes of Conduct, to ways of encouraging accountability or sanctioning

What Does Community Accountability Look Like?

- A sports team taking time to organize an in-depth, weekend long retreat to learn about and discuss sexual violence after rumours surface about a team member.
- Members of a residence noticing the drunken sexual harassment frequently carried out by one resident and organizing an intervention to ask that person to either stop drinking or stop attending residence parties.

aggressors even when the survivor does not wish to put forward an official report. These

types of intervention, called "communitybased interventions" break down the culture of isolation and silence that permeates the issue of sexual violence and encourages community members to "gather together to create grounded, thoughtful community responses" (Creative Interventions 2012). This could mean a sports team taking time to organize an in-depth, weekend long retreat to learn about and discuss sexual violence after rumours surface about a team member. It could also mean members of a residence noticing the drunken sexual harassment frequently carried out by one resident and organizing an intervention to ask that person to either stop drinking or stop attending residence parties. Another example is "community restraining orders" where members of the LGBTQ community will come together to insure that someone who has perpetrated domestic or sexual violence will not show up at the same parties as the person or people they had violated, especially when the survivor(s) are

Male peer groups must be taught to hold each other accountable not only for acts of sexual aggression, harassment, or violence, but also for the ways that they assist each other in silencing survivors and creating vulnerable people through slut shaming.

uncomfortable going to the police because of sexual orientation or gender presentation

(Chen, Dulani, and Piepzna-Samarasinha n.d.). Even something as simple as creating a shift in culture similar to the Mothers Against Drunk Driving slogan, "Friends don't let friends drive drunk" where friends will not let friends victimize or target others would be effective (Tabachnick 2009, 5). These are just a few examples of the tools that we can offer students to organize and push for accountability. These relatively small actions can "break the sense of isolation, shame and fear" for survivors and can send a message to the aggressor that "people are watching and standing solidly with the survivor" (Creative Interventions 2012, 1-37). Another major benefit of these types of social interventions is that they encourage students to take an active responsibility for their own communities and to organize and improve those communities through social action, fostering democratic citizenship (Whiteside-Lantz 2003). Furthermore, as a pedagogical strategy, these types of interventions encourage student creativity and foster student agency through "collective and self-determined action" (Rojas Durazo 2011/12, 79).

The community accountability tools described above, as well as the shifting in cultural norms detailed in previous paragraphs are especially important to encourage in male dominated communities such as fraternities, male residences, and sports teams. This is true both because of the higher rates of sexual violence perpetrated by men in male-dominant communities, but also because there is research that shows that men are less likely to intervene into sexual violence when the aggressor is somebody that they know (Bennett, Banyard, and Edwards 2017, 682-683). Furthermore, the encouragement and support of other men is a major factor that facilitates sexually violent

behaviour from men (Schwartz, DeKeseredy, Tait and Alvi 2001, 625). Another important reason to reach out to male-dominant communities specifically is that survivors often fear, legitimately, harassment from the aggressor's friends if they report or even disclose the assault to others (Potter 2016, 826). Therefore male peer groups must be taught to hold each other accountable not only for acts of sexual aggression, harassment or violence, but also for the ways that they assist others in silencing survivors and creating vulnerable people through bullying and slut shaming. The ways that safety has traditionally been framed have placed a disproportionate amount of responsibility on women's shoulders warning them about dangerous places including "cars, predictable paths, parking lots, entryways, secluded areas, isolated roads, the internet, dates, men's bedrooms, anywhere with men, anywhere where a woman is alone, and anywhere public after nightfall, as well as the catch-all place of 'your surroundings'" (Bedera and Nordmeyer 2015, 538), and dangerous actions including drinking or using drugs, walking alone at night, living alone, hanging your laundry out to dry, using the internet, taking photographs of yourself, or working in certain industries. For women, "constant vigilance" is seen as necessary for any semblance of safety, but it is never suggested that, "men should make these spaces [or actions] safer for women" (Bedera and Nordmeyer 2015, 538). Male students need to take responsibility in creating some of that safety by both changing and reflecting on their own behaviours, but also by recognizing and interrupting the harmful behaviours of their peers.

However, in creating communities of accountability, it is also important that students are encouraged to reflect upon the ways that broader social power structures and inequalities are replicated in their communities (Rentschler 2017). For example, white privilege often plays out at the community level in insidious ways allowing certain people more access to peerrespect and support. In most cases when sexual violence is made known to a community, the community in question tends to side with the aggressor (Smith 2010). Community accountability can only work if there are enough community members united in their dedication to hold aggressors accountable (Smith 2010). This does not need to be a formal community group or organization, but it does require group discussion and planning. It also requires that communities learn to listen to survivors, either in their own words, or in the words of their friends speaking on their behalf. Survivor complaints should not be dismissed as "gossip" simply because the survivor themselves is unable to speak out openly. There are ways to stand on the side of survivors, to hear the whispers and second-hand stories that do not constitute gossip. These second hand stories are inadmissible as hearsay in courts, but our community interventions do not aim to imprison the perpetrator or take away their constitutionally guaranteed freedoms and so do not need to live up to those same strict standards. We can increase survivor safety by taking these second-hand stories seriously and use them to make demands on aggressors to change their behaviour. Students should thus be warned against "romanticizing community" and should be given the tools necessary to hold formal and informal community discussions about

sexual violence in order to increase community consensus on the unacceptability of sexual violence and the acceptability of intervention (Rentschler 2017, 569). Another reason to be careful around community accountability is that sometimes this concept allows the diffusion of responsibility so that "ultimately nobody feels accountable..." (Hong 2017, 30). To overcome this, a "culture of care" must be fostered, moving beyond accountability to care about the dignity, safety, and support of all community members (Palacios and Aguilar 2017, 211).

What's missing from Existing Bystander Training Models?

LGBTQ Inclusion

One of the most frequently commented upon short-comings of existing Bystander Training programs is the reinforcement of heteronormativity through a lack a acknowledgment of sexual violence in same-sex contexts. As Worthen and Wallace (2017) demonstrate, gay and bisexual men are most often disappointed with Bystander Intervention training programs, reporting that they feel "invisible" in the programs' content (190). Lesbians and bisexual women are likely to relate slightly more to existing Bystander Intervention trainings because the majority of sexual assaults experienced by lesbian and bisexual women are perpetrated by men and not other women (Balsam et. al. 2005 quoted in Senn 2011). However, sexual assault perpetrated by women against other women does happen just far less frequently (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012). For women who do experience sexual assault at the hands of another woman, the myth that "same-sex relationship violence is less harmful than

heterosexual violence" is something that they may face when reporting or disclosing (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012, 203).

This lack of representation is significant because LGBTQ persons often face increased levels of sexualized violence on campus (Worthen and Wallace 2017; Cantor et. al 2015; Krebs et. al 2016). Indeed, Canadian data from the 2004 General Social Survey reveals that lesbian and bisexual women face higher rates of violent victimization in general, including sexual assault (Benoit et. al, 2015 as cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017). While there is evidence that same-sex partners practice more explicit and verbal models of consent in sexual relationships (Muelenhard, Humphreys, Jozkowski, and Peterson 2016), this does not mean that sexual violence does not occur in same-sex relationships. Indeed, LGBT students have the same or higher level of risk for sexual or relationship violence as their heterosexual peers (Potter, Fountain and Stapleton 2012).

LGBTQ identifying survivors face many additional challenges on campus. They may be reluctant to seek help or to report due to concerns that their sexual orientation may be exposed causing them to lose supports from friends and family (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012). This is especially true when sexual violence is experienced in the context of a same-sex relationship. On small campuses, the population of LGBTQ students is often a very small and tightly-knit group, making it extremely frightening and risky for students to speak out about experiencing violence in a same-sex relationship (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012). Speaking out about the violence they have experienced, LGBTQ survivors risk being ostracized from their

community, something which can be particularly distressing for those who have already been ostracized by their families (Baily, Dunn, and Msosa forthcoming). Furthermore, LGBTQ students often experience campuses as "hostile" spaces where they face discrimination, harassment and isolation (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012) meaning that their LGBTQ peer community may be a refuge from the broader campus, again making it difficult to speak out about sexual violence experienced in that same space. These students may also fear that reporting or disclosing what happened to them will add to negative stereotypes about LGBTQ people (Potter, Fountain, and Stapleton 2012), or that people they tell will explain their sexual orientation through their history of sexual assault (i.e. you are a lesbian because you were raped by a man or you are gay because you were molested as a child).

It is also important to note the ways that heterosexism is embedded in rape culture through promoting behaviours where men engage in "public posturing" of their sexuality, often through the objectification of women, in order to underscore their heterosexuality (Task Force on Misogyny, Sexism and Homophobia in Dalhousie Faculty of Dentistry 2015, 46). As Kimmel (2009) points out, another way that young men engage in this posturing of heterosexuality is by casting other men as "gay" through homophobic taunting and bullying. This bullying can often cross the line into acts of sexual violence particularly when used as a hazing ritual (Kimmel 2009, 112). Bystander Intervention training programs should include discussions of heterosexism and homophobia in broader discussions of rape culture. Furthermore, it is important to use examples of lesbian, gay

and bisexual experiences with sexual violence so that these students can see themselves represented in the materials (Worthen and Wallace 2017).

Grounding in the Reconciliation Process

In the Nova Scotian and Canadian context it is particularly important to ground any of our efforts to address sexual violence in the Truth and Reconciliation process. This is particularly important since Canadian statistics demonstrate that Aboriginal women experience sexual victimization at rates three-times higher than non-Aboriginal women (Stevens and Chau 2016, 6). One third of indigenous women survivors also experience revictimization (Bourassa et. al. 2017, 47). Moreover, statistics also demonstrate that it is non-indigenous men who commit the majority of sexual assaults on indigenous women (Scott, Singh and Harris, 2017; Smith 2010), though assaults committed by indigenous men towards indigenous women and children do happen as well. It is also important to point out that Aboriginal men face much higher rates of sexual violence than non-aboriginal men (Du Mont, Macdonald, White & Turner, 2013; as cited in EVA BC 2016).

In addressing the realities of sexual violence faced by indigenous peoples in Canada it is important to take a broader historical view. The very roots of rape culture in the Canadian context stem from colonial relations where "a lack of consent and oppressive exploitative relationships to lands and its peoples" have been the norm (Anti-Violence Project n.d. cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 22). Indeed, the ongoing project of settler-colonialism has created a "deep-seated sense of entitlement to take, use, dominate, and

intimidate anything we covet" (Anti-Violence Project n.d. cited in Government of Nova Scotia 2017, 22). From the very beginning of contact with indigenous peoples, European colonial administrators used patriarchal relations as a way to introduce hierarchy into the more egalitarian societies they found in "the new world" (Harris 2017). There is evidence that European settlers used rape as a tool of colonization (Linder 2017; Smith 2005). This history of settler-colonialism in Canada is replete with sexualized violence from the horrors of residential schools, to the high levels of abuse faced by indigenous children in foster care, to the ongoing issue of missing and murdered indigenous women, to the history and continued practice of forced or coerced sterilizations of indigenous women. These acts of violence clearly demonstrate that sexism is not the only oppression that drives sexualized violence, indeed sexualized violence in Canada is strongly rooted in colonialism. Because of this ongoing history, "the lines between survivor and perpetrator are not always necessarily exclusive" in indigenous communities (Stevens and Chau 2016, 15). Far from being irrelevant, the history detailed in this and the previous paragraph is important in bringing to light, "how this act of violence was always and continues to be about power, dominance, privilege, and colonization." (Harris and Linder 2017, 244-45).

So far on Canadian campuses, there has been little work and few discussions linking the issues of campus sexual violence and missing and murdered indigenous women.

This colonial relationship also means that the police are viewed as less trustworthy and the legal system as less viable an avenue for addressing sexual assault in indigenous communities (Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre n.d., 243). In recent history we need only look to the allegations of multiple sexual assaults against indigenous women by police in Val D'Or Quebec (Coon Come 2016) that surfaced in the news or the treatment of some indigenous women survivors by the Canadian Justice System, having been shackled, handcuffed and kept over-night in prison in order to secure their witness testimony in sexual assault cases (Craig 2018). Furthermore, the apathy with which the police treated the issues of Missing and Murdered indigenous women has also bread extensive distrust (Johnson 2012). Not surprisingly, this has created a situation where many indigenous women do not report violence to the police unless it is most severe (Bourassa et. al 2017).

So far on Canadian campuses there has been a disconnect between the issues of sexual violence on campus and the missing and murdered indigenous women (Bourassa et. al. 2017). This disconnect has falsely separated issues that stem from the same root problems. As discussed above sexual

violence stems from a colonial mentality as well as the privilege and entitlement that colonial masculinity often embodies. Furthermore, Bourassa et. al. (2017) argue that, "universities have been and still are to a significant extent largely white, colonial spaces..." (46). Moreover, if we continue, "failing to acknowledge Indigenous women as a part of campus violence, we risk perpetuating the same exclusion that places them at risk for violence in the first place" (Bourassa 2017, 48). A look at some prominent cases of missing and murdered indigenous women should demonstrate the explicit overlap with campus sexual violence. In one Nova Scotian case, St. Mary's graduate student and Inuk woman Loretta Saunders was murdered by her subletters in 2014 (Barrera 2017). In another case written about extensively by Canadian legal scholar Sherene Razack (2000), Pamela George, an Ojibway woman was raped and murdered in 1995 by two, white, male university athletes, whose social and economic privilege allowed them to use their parents' credit cards to flee the province by plane. The privilege of the perpetrators in this case was also apparent when police commented that the accused were merely, "boys who did pretty darn stupid things" (Razack 2000). Indeed, the interrelated issues of indigenous women's vulnerability to sexual violence on campus, as well as, the privilege and entitlement of white men on campus must be explored in detail if we want to end sexual violence in the Canadian context.

Much of broader Canadian society's attempts to address sexual violence have not only been exclusionary of indigenous people, but have also failed to be "culturally relevant, culturally revitalizing, or culturally safe" for indigenous people (Stevens and

Chau 2016, 6). It is important that initiatives to address sexual violence faced by indigenous people be rooted in indigenous traditions of resiliency and respect for women (Smith 2010; Stevens and Chau 2016). In particular, Stevens and Chau (2016) detail the seven sacred teachings of the Mi'kmaw tradition that include, "wisdom, love, courage, humility, truth, respect, and honesty" (16). These traditional approaches to empowerment, healing and accountability must be incorporated into Bystander Intervention training if it is to be at all useful for indigenous participants.

Conclusion

In creating a "Made in Nova Scotia" Bystander Intervention training program, the above report provides us with a broad base of evidence to shape our work moving forward. Based upon the evidence detailed above, the new Bystander Intervention training program will be comprised of five different training modules each approaching the issue of sexual violence on campus from a nuanced, intersectional and feminist perspective. The trainings will be peer-led and developed through extensive gathering of student feedback. The curriculum materials will be provided free of charge to each campus with the hope that funds will be spent in order to institutionalize the program on each campus. This could be done by setting up a Sexual Assault Services Office on campus, by assigning a faculty position to the program, or hiring a Bystander Training coordinator – what works best will vary from campus to campus. It will also be necessary to garner support from the Provincial Government in order to facilitate the ongoing updates to the program, maintaining the quality and relevance of the curriculum materials. The

program Advisory Committee should continue to meet regularly through the piloting, evaluation, updating and official rollout stages of the program. Furthermore, each campus should be willing to share resources, tips on best practice regarding program delivery, and even partner in delivering the trainings cross-campus where

applicable. The Antigonish Women's Resource Centre and Sexual Assault Services Association will continue to lead the project for as long as funding is available.

Works Cited

- Abbey, Antonia and Pam McAuslan. 2004. "A Longitudinal Examination of Male College Students' Perpetration of Sexual Assault." *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 72(5): 747-756.
- Abbey, Antonia, Pam McAuslan, and Lisa Thomson Ross. 1998. "Sexual Assault Perpetration by College Men: The Role of Alcohol, Misperception of Sexual Intent, and Sexual Beliefs and Experiences." *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 17(2): 167-195.
- Abbey, Anotnia, Tina Zawacki, and Philip O. Buck. 2005. "The effects of past sexual assault perpetration and alcohol consumption on men's reactions to women's mixed signals." *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*. 24(2): 129-155.
- Ahmed, Sara. 2017. "A Complaint Biography" *Feministkilljoys* August 8 2017. http://feministkilljoys.com/2017/08/09/a-complaint-biography/ (accessed August 11, 2017).
- Ahrens, Courtney E., Rebecca Campbell, N. Karen Ternier-Thames, Sharon M. Wasco, and Tracy Sefl. 2007. "Deciding whom to tell: Expectations and outcomes of rape survivors' first disclosures." *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 31(1): 38-49.
- Anderson, Linda A. and Susan C. Whiston. 2005. "Sexual Assault Education Programs: A Meta-Analytic Examination of their Effectiveness." *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 29(4).
- Anderson, Peter B. and William Sorensen. 1999. "Male and Female Differences in Reports of Women's Heterosexual Initiation and Aggression." *Sexual Behaviour*, 28(3): 243-253.
- Armstrong, Cory L. and Jessica Mahone. 2017. "It's On Us.' The Role of Social Media and Rape Culture in Individual Willingness to Mobilize Against Sexual Assault." *Mass Communication and Society*, 20: 92-115.

- Armstrong, Elizabeth A., Laura Hamilton, and Brian Sweeney. 2006. "Sexual Assault on Campus: A Multilevel, Integrative Approach to Party Rape." *Social Problems*, 54(3): 483-499.
- Association of American Universities. 2017. Combating Sexual Assault and Misconduct.
- Bannon, R., M. Brosi, and J. Foubert. 2013. "Sorority women's and fraternity men's rape myth acceptance and bystander intervention attitudes." *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 50: 72-87.
- Banyard, Victoria L. 2008. "Measurement and correlates of prosocial bystander behaviour: The case of interpersonal violence. *Violence and Victims*, 23: 83-97.
- Banyard, Victoria L., Mary M. Moynihan, and Elizabethe G. Plante. 2007. "Sexual Violence Through Bystander Education: An Experimental Evaluation." *Journal of Community Psychology*, 35(4): 463-481.
- Baily, Jane, Suzanne Dunn and Yamikani Msosa. (Forthcoming). "Stand By Men: Viewing Sexual Violence Programming Through an Intersectional Lens" In *Conversations about Sexual Violence on University Campuses: New Challenges, Novel Solutions.*
- Barrera, Jorge. 2017. "In Loretta Saunders murder, family says police thought she was white, MMIWG inquiry hears," in *CBC News*, October 30, 2017 http://www.cbc.ca/news/indigenous/inquiry-ns-saunders-1.4378891 (Accessed February 8th, 2018).
- Basile, K.C., DeGue, S., Jones, K., Friere, K., Dills, J., Smith, S.G., Raiford, J.L. 2016. *Stop SV: A Technical Package to Prevent Sexual Violence*. Atlanta, GA: National Centre for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Bay-Cheng, Laina Y., and Anne E. Burns. 2016. "Yes, But: Young Women's Views of Unwanted Sex at the Intersection of Gender and Class" *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 40(4): 504-517.
- Bedera, Nicole and Kristjane Nordmeyer. 2015. "'Never Go Out Alone': An Analysis of College Rape Prevention Tips." *Sexuality & Culture*, 19:533-542.
- Belknap, Joanne. 2010. "Rape: Too Hard to Report and Too Easy to Discredit Victims." *Violence Against Women*, 16(12): 1335-1344.

- Bennett, Sidney, Victoria L. Banyard, and Katie M. Edwards. 2017. "The Impact of the Bystander's Relationship with the Victim and the Perpetrator on Intent to Help in Situations Involving Sexual Violence." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 32(5): 683-702.
- Bennett, Sidney, Victoria L. Banyard, and Lydia Garnhart. (2014). "To Act or Not to Act, That is the Question? Barriers and Facilitators of Bystander Intervention" *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 29(3): 476-496.
- Benoit, Cecilia, Leah Shumka, Rachel Phillips, Mary Clare Kennedy, and Lynne Belle-Isle. 2015. *Issue Brief: Sexual Violence Against Women in Canada*. Commissioned by the Federal-Provincial-Territorial Senior Officials for the Status of Women Canada.
- Beres, Melanie. 2010. "Sexual Miscommunication? Untangling Assumptions About Sexual Communication Between Casual Sex Partners" *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 12(1): 1-14.
- Beres, Melanie Ann. (2014). "Rethinking the Concept of Consent for Anti-Sexual Violence Activism and Education." *Feminism & Psychology*, 24(3): 373-389.
- Beres, Melanie Ann, Charlene Y. Senn, and Jodee McCaw. 2014. "Navigating Ambivalence: How Heterosexual Young Adults Make Sense of Desire Differences." *The Journal of Sex Research*, 51(7): 765-776.
- Bertram, Corrine C. and M. Sue Crowley. 2012. "Teaching about Sexual Violence in Higher Education: Moving from Concern to Conscious Resistance." *Frontiers* 33(1): 63-82.
- Berkowitz, A. D. 2004. "Part II: Working with men to prevent violence against women: Program modalities and formats." *National Electronic Network on Violence Against Women*, 1-6.
- Bierra, A. O. Carrillo, E. Colbert, X. Ibarra, T. Kigvamasud'Vashti, S. Maulana. 2006. "Taking Risks: Implementing grassroots community accountability strategies. In Incite! Women of Color Against Violence (Ed.), *Color of Violence: The INCITE! Anthology*, Cambridge, MA: South End Press, 250-266.
- Black, M.C., K.C. Basile, M.J. Breiding, S.G. Smith, M.L. Walters, M.T. Merrick, J. Chen, M.R. Stevens. 2011. *The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 Summary Report.* Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Bordere, Tashel. 2017. "Disenfranchisement and Ambiguity in the Face of Loss: The Suffocated Grief of Sexual Assault Survivors." *Family Relations*, 66(1):29-45.

- Bourassa, Carrie, Melissa Bendig, Eric J. Oleson, Cassandra A. Ozog, Jennifer L. Billan, Natalie Owl, and Kate Ross-Hopley. 2017. "Campus Violence, Indigenous Women, and the Policy Void" in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change. Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 45-60.
- Bumiller, Kristin. 2008. *In an Abusive State: How Neoliberalism Appropriated the Feminist Movement against Sexual Violence*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- California Coalition Against Sexual Assault. 2015. Student Safety, Justice, and Support: Policy Guidelines for California Campuses Addressing Sexual Assault, Dating/Domestic Violence and Stalking. Sacramento, CA: CALCASA.
- Carmody, Moira. 2009. "Conceptualizing the prevention of sexual assault and the role of education." *Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault*, No. 10 https://aifs.gov.au/sites/default/files/publication-documents/acssa_issues10_0.pdf (Accessed February 10, 2018).
- Cantor, David, Bonnie Fisher, Susan Chibnall, Reanne Townsend, Hyunshik Lee, Carol Bruce and Gail Thomas. 2015. *Report on the AAU Campus Climate Survey on Sexual Assault and Sexual Misconduct*. Prepared for the Association of American Universities by Westat.
- Casey, E. A. and T. P. Lindhorst. 2009. "Toward a multi-level, ecological approach to the primary prevention of sexual assault: prevention in peer and community contexts." *Trauma, Violence and Abuse,* April 10(2): 91-114.
- Cass, A. 2007. "Routine activities and sexual assault: An analysis of individual- and school-level factors." *Violence and Victims*, 22(3): 350-364.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2014. *Preventing Sexual Violence on College Campuses: Lessons from Research and Practice*. Retrieved June 1, 2017 from https://www.notalone.gov/schools/.
- Chen, C.-I., J. Dulani, and Leah Lakshmi Piepzna-Samarasinha (Eds.). n.d. *The Revolution Starts at Home: Confronting Partner Abuse in Activist Communities*. Oakland, CA: The editors.
- Chief Elk, Lauren and Shaadi Devereaux. 2014. "The Failure of Bystander Intervention." *The New Inquiry*, December 23, 2014 https://thenewinquiry.com/failure-of-bystander-intervention/ (Accessed February 4, 2018).
- Christensen, M. Candace. 2011. "Using Feminist Leadership to Build a Performance-Based, Peer Education Program" *Qualitative Social Work*, 12(3): 254-269.

- Clark, Annie E. and Andrea L. Pino. 2016. We Believe You: Survivors of Campus Sexual Assault Speak Out. New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Coker, A. L., H. M. Bush, B. S. Fisher, S. C. Swan, C. M. Williams, E. R. Clear, S. DeGue. 2016. "Multi-College Bystander Intervention Evaluation for Violence Prevention." *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, 50(3): 295-302.
- Coon Come, Matthew. 2016. "The Indigenous Women of Val D'Or Deserve Equal Justice," *The Globe and Mail*, November 29, 2016. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/the-indigenous-women-of-val-dor-deserve-equal-justice/article33074449/ (Accessed February 10th 2018).
- Craig, Elaine. 2018. Putting Trials on Trial: Sexual Assault and the Failure of the Legal Profession. Kingston, ON: McGill-Queens University Press.
- Creative Interventions. 2012. Creative Interventions Toolkit: A Practical Guide to Stop Interpersonal Violence. Oakland, CA: Creative Interventions.
- Crenshaw, Kimberle. 1989. "Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics." *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1989(1): Article 8.
- Cross, Jen. 2017. Writing Ourselves Whole: Using the Power of your Own Creativity to Recover and Heal from Sexual Trauma. Coral Gables, FL: Mango Publishing Group.
- Curtis, David G. 1997. "Perspectives on Acquaintance Rape" *American Academy of Experts in Traumatic Stress, Inc.* http://www.aaets.org/article13.htm (Accessed August 10, 2017).
- Daigle, L.E., B. S. Fisher, and F. T. Cullen. 2008. "The violent and sexual victimization of college women: is repeat victimization a problem?" *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 9: 1296-1313.
- DeGue, Sarah. 2014. "Evidence-based strategies for the primary prevention of sexual violence perpetration," in Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Preventing Sexual Violence on College Campuses: Lessons from Research and Practice*. www.notalone.gov/schools (Accessed February 2, 2018).
- DeGue, Sarah, Greta M. Massetti, Melissa K. Holt, Andra Teten Tharp, Linda Anne Valle, Jennifer L. Matjasko, and Caroline Lippy. 2013. "Identifying Links Between Sexual Violence and Youth Violence Perpetration: New Opportunities for Sexual Violence Prevention." *Psychology of Violence*, 3(2): 140-156.

- DeKeseredy, Walter and Katherine Kelly. 1993. "The Incidence and Prevalence of Women Abuse in Canadian University and College Dating Relationships." *The Canadian Journal of Sociology*, 18(2): 137-159.
- Donovan, Roxanne, and Michelle Williams. 2002. "Living at the Intersection: The Effects of Racism and Sexism on Black Rape Survivors." *Women & Therapy*, 25(3-4): 95-105.
- DuMont, J., S. Macdonald, M. White, and L. Turner. 2013. "Male victims of adult sexual assault: A descriptive study of survivors' use of sexual assault treatment services." *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 28(13): 2676-2694.
- Edwards, Keith E. 2009. "Effectiveness of a Social Change Approach to Sexual Assault Prevention." *College Student Affairs Journal*, 28(1).
- Ending Violence Association of BC. 2016. *Campus Sexual Violence: Guidelines for a Comprehensive Approach*. Vancouver, BC: Ending Violence Association of BC.
- Fabiano, Patricia M., H. Wesley Perkins, Alan Berkowitz, Jeff Linkenbach, and Christopher Stark. 2003. "Engaging Men as Social Justice Allies in Ending Violence Against Women for a Social Norms Approach." *Journal of American College Health*, 52(3): 105-112.
- Farris, Coreen, Teresa A. Treat, and Richard J. Viken. 2010. "Alcohol Alters Men's Perceptual and Decisional Processing of Women's Sexual Interest." *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 119(2): 427-432.
- Felson, Richard B., and Paul-Philippe Pare. 2005. "The Reporting of Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault by Nonstrangers to the Police." *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67(3): 597-610.
- Fogel, Curtis. 2017. "Precarious masculinity and rape culture in Canadian university sport" in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), *Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change.* Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 139-156.
- Forbes-Mewett, Helen, Jude McCulloch, and Chris Nyland. 2015. *International Students and Crime*. London: Palgrave MacMillan.
- Foubert, John D. and Ana J. Bridges. 2017. "Predicting Bystander Efficacy and Willingness to Intervene in College Men and Women: The Role of Exposure to Varying Levels of Violence in Pornography." *Violence Against Women*, 23(6): 692-706.
- Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre. N.d. Man to Man.

- Fiere, Paulo. 1970 [2000]. *Pedagogy of the Oppressed*. Myra Bergman Ramos (Trans.) London: Bloomsbury.
- Finn, P. 1995. Preventing alcohol-related problems on campus: Acquaintance rape: A guide for program coordinators.
- Fisher, B.S., L. E. Daigle and F. T. Cullen. 2010. *Unsafe in the Ivory Tower: The sexual victimization of college women.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Garcia, B. and M. Melendez. 1997. "Concepts and methods in teaching oppression courses." *Journal of Progressive Human Services*, 8: 23-40.
- Gavey, Nicola. 2005. Just Sex? The Cultural Scaffolding of Rape. New York: Routledge.
- George, William H. and Lorraine J. Martinez. 2002. "Victim Blaming in Rape: Effects of Victim and Perpetrator Race, Type of Rape, and Participant Racism." *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 26(2): 110-119.
- Gerrits, Bailey and Roxanne Runyon. 2015. "We Believe in a Campus Free of Sexual Violence: Lessons from Campus Sexual Violence Prevention Leaders." Report Commissioned by Ontario Public Interest Research Group Kingston.
- Gervais, Sarah J., David Delillo, and Dennis McChargue. 2014. "Understanding the Link Between Men's Alcohol Use and Sexual Violence Perpetration: The Mediating Role of Sexual Objectification." *Psychology of Violence* 4(2): 156-169.
- Gladu, Marilyn. 2017. Taking Action to End Violence Against Young Women and Girls in Canada: Report of the Standing Committee on the Status of Women. Ottawa: House of Commons.
- Government of Nova Scotia. 2017. "Changing the Culture of Acceptance: the Province of Nova Scotia's and the Nova Scotia Universities' recommendations to address sexual violence on university campuses." Department of Labour and Advanced Education.
- Graham, Kathryn, Sharon Bernards, D. Wayne Osgood, Antonia Abbey, Michael Parks, Andrea Flynn, Tara Dumas, and Samantha Wells. 2014. "Blurred Lines?' Sexual Aggression and Barroom Culture." *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 38(5): 1416-1424.
- Grant, J.M., A. Lisa, Justin Mottet, Jack Tanis, Jody Harrison, L. Herman, Mara Keisling. 2011. *Injustice at every turn: A report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey.*Washington, DC: National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force.

- Gross, A. M., A. Winslett, M. Roberts, and C. L. Gohm. 2006. "An examination of sexual assault against college women." *Violence Against Women*, 12(3): 288-300.
- Haaken, Janice. 2017. "Many Mornings After: Campus Sexual Assault and Feminist Politics." *Family Relations* 66(1): 17-28.
- Haiven, Judy. 2017. "Rape Chant at Saint Mary's University: A Convergence of Business School Ethics, Alcohol Consumption, and Varsity Sport," in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), *Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change*. Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 93-116.
- Harris, Jessica C. 2017. "Centering Women of Color in the Discourse on Sexual Violence on College Campuses," in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus
- Harris, Jessica C. and Chris Linder. 2017. "Introduction" in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus, 1-20.
- Harris, Kate Lockwood and Jenna N. Hanchey. 2014. "(De)stabilizing Sexual Violence Discourse: Masculinization of Victimhood, Organizational Blame and Labile Imperialism." *Communication and Critical/Cultural Studies*, 11(4): 322-341.
- Holland, Kathryn J. and Lilia M. Cortina. 2017. "It Happens to Girls all the time": Examining Sexual Assault Survivors' Reasons for Not Using Campus Supports." *American Journal of Psychology*, 59: 50-64.
- Holtfreter, Kristy and Jennifer Boyd. 2006. "A Coordinated Community Response to Intimate Partner Violence on the College Campus." *Victims and Offenders*, 1: 141-157.
- Hong, Loulou. 2017. "Digging up the Roots, Rustling the Leaves: A Critical Consideration of the Root Causes of Sexual Violence and Why Higher Education Needs More Courage" in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Horsman, Melissa Rae and Patricia Cormack. 2016. "A Meaningful Meaninglessness: Canadian University Culture as Gendered and Class-Based Privilege" *Gender and Education*, 1-15.
- Ikeda, Naoko and Emily Rosser. 2009. "You be vigilant! Don't rape!': Reclaiming space and security at York University." *Canadian Women Studies*, 28(1): 37-52.

- Iverson, Susan V. 2017. "Mapping Identities: An Intersectional Analysis of Policies on Sexual Violence," in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Johnson, Holly. 2012. "Limits of a Criminal Justice Response: Trends in Police and Court Processing of Sexual Assault" in *Sexual Assault in Canada: Law, Legal Practice and Women's Activism*, Elizabeth A. Sheehy (Ed.) Ottawa: University of Ottawa Press, 613-
- Johnson, Holly and Emily Colpitts. 2013. "Fact Sheet: Violence Against Women in Canada" Ottawa: CRIAW/ICREF.
- Jozkowski, Kristen N., Zoe D. Peterson, Stephanie A. Saunders, Barbara Dennis, Michael Reece. 2014. "Gender Differences in Heterosexual College Students' Conceptualizations and Indicators of Sexual Consent: Implications for Contemporary Sexual Assault Prevention Education." *Journal of Sex Research*, 51(8): 904-916.
- Jozkowski, Kristen N. and Jacquelyn D. Wiersma-Mosely. 2017. "The Greek System: How Gender Inequality and Class Privilege Perpetuate Rape Culture." *Family Relations*. 66(1):89-103.
- Kaukinen, Catherine. 2004. "Status Compatibility, Physical Violence, and Emotional Abuse in Intimate Relationships." *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 66(2): 452-471.
- Kelly, Liz. 1987. "The Continuum of Sexual Violence," in J. Hammer and M. Manyard (Eds.) *Women, Violence and Social Control: Explorations in Sociology.* London: Palgrave Macmillan: 46-60.
- Kimmel, Michael. 2009. *Guyland: The Perilous World Where Boys Become Men.* New York: Harper.
- Kirby, D. B., B. A. Laris, L. A. Rolleri. 2007. "Sex and HIV education programs: their impact on sexual behaviours of young people throughout the world." *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 40(3): 206-217.
- Kitzinger, Celia and Hannah Frith. 1999. "Just Say No? The Use of Conversation Analysis in Developing a Feminist Perspective on Sexual Refusal." *Discourse & Society*, 10(3): 293-316.
- Kleinsasser, A., EN Jouriles, R. McDonald, D. Rosenfield. 2015. "An Online Bystander Intervention Program for the Prevention of Sexual Violence." *Psychology of Violence*, 5(3): 227-235.

- Koss, M. P. 1988. "Hidden Rape: Sexual aggression and victimization in a national sample of students in higher education," in A. W. Burgess (Ed.), *Rape and Sexual Assault: Vol 2*. New York: Garland: 3-25.
- Krakauer, Jon. 2015. *Missoula: Rape and the justice system in a college town*. New York: Doubleday.
- Krause, Kathleen H., Stephanie S. Miedema, Rebecca Woofter, and Kathryn M. Yount. 2017. "Feminist Research with Student Activists: Enhancing Campus Sexual Assault Research." *Family Relations*, 66(1): 211-223.
- Krebs, C. C. Linkquist, T. Warner, B. Fisher, and S. Martin. 2007. *The Campus Sexual Assault Study*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice, U.S. Department of Justice.
- Krebs, C., C. Linkquist, C. Berzofsky, M. Shook-Sa, K. Peterson, M. Planty, et al. 2016. *Campus Climate Survey validation study final technical report*. Washington, DC: Department of Justice.
- Kuperberg, Arielle and Joseph E. Padgett. 2015. "The role of culture in explaining college students' selection into hookups, dates, and long-term romantic relationships." *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 33(8): 1070-1096.
- Lalonde, Julie S. 2017. "From reacting to preventing: Addressing sexual violence on campus by engaging community partners" in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), *Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change.* Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 257-274.
- Linder, Chris. 2017. "Reexamining Our Roots: A History of Racism and Antirape Activism," in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Linder, Chris and Jess S. Myers. 2017. "Intersectionality, Power, Privilege, and Campus-Based Sexual Violence Activism" in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Lisak, David and Paul M. Miller. 2002. "Repeat Rape and Multiple Offending Among Undetected Rapists." *Violence and Victims*, 17(1): 73-84.
- Loya, R. M. 2014. "The role of sexual violence in creating and maintaining economic insecurity among asset-poor women of color." *Violence Against Women*, 20(11): 1299-1320.
- MacDonald, Haily, Tanya Mtetwa and Bilha Ndomo. 2013a. *Focus Groups Results and Recommendations*. Antigonish, NS: St. Francis Xavier University.

- MacDonald, Haily, Tanya Mtetwa, and Bilha Ndomo. 2013b. *Walkabouts (Campus Safety Audits): Results and Recommendations*. Antigonish, NS: St. Francis Xavier University.
- MacKay, Jenna M., Ursula Wolfe, and Alexandra Rutherford. 2017. "Collective conversations, collective action: York University's Sexual Assault Survivors' Support Line and students organizing for campus safety" in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change. Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 237-254.
- Malamuth, Neil. 1989. "The Attraction to Sexual Aggression scale: Part I." *Journal of Sex Research*, 26:26-49.
- Mardorossian, Carine M. 2002. "Towards a New Feminist Theory of Rape" Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 27(3): 743-
- Marine, Susan B. 2017. "For Brandon, For Justice: Naming and Ending Sexual Violence Against Trans* College Students" in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Martell Consulting Services Ltd. 2014a. *A Review of Student Union Policies and Practices to Prevent Sexual Violence*. Halifax: Students Nova Scotia.
- Martell Consulting Services Ltd. 2014b A Review of the Policies and Practices to Reduce the Harmful Effects of the Overconsumption of Alcohol. Halifax: Students Nova Scotia.
- Martin, S.L., B.S. Fisher, T.D. Warner, C.P. Krebs, C.H. Lindquist. 2011. "Women's sexual orientation and their experiences of sexual assault before and during university." *Women's Health Issues*, 21(3): 199-205.
- METRAC. 2014. Sexual Assault Policies on Campus: A Discussion Paper. Toronto: METRAC.
- McMahon, S. 2010. "Rape myth beliefs and bystander attitudes among incoming college students." *Journal of American College Health*, 59(1):3-11.
- McQueeny, Krista. 2016. "Teaching Domestic Violence in the New Millennium: Intersectionality as a Framework for Social Change." *Violence Against Women*, 22(12):1436-1475.
- Mitchell, Karen S. and Jennifer L. Freitag. 2011. "Forum Theatre for Bystanders: A New Model for Gender Violence Prevention" *Violence Against Women*, 17(8): 990-1013.

- Moynihan, M., Victoria L. Banyard, J.S. Arnold, R. P. Eckstein, and Jane G. Stapleton. 2011. "Sisterhood may be powerful for reducing sexual and intimate partner violence: An evaluation of the Bringing in the Bystander in-person program with sorority members." *Violence Against Women*, 17: 703-719.
- Muelenhard, Charlene L., Terry P. Humphreys, Kristen N. Jozkowski, and Zoe D. Peterson. 2016. "The Complexities of Sexual Consent Among College Students: A Conceptual and Empirical Review." *The Journal of Sex Research*, 53(4-5): 457-487.
- Murnen, Sarah K. 2000. "Gender and the Use of Sexually Degrading Language." *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 24(4): 319-327.
- Nation, Maurry, C. Crusto, A. Wandersman, K.L. Kumpfer, D. Seybolt, E. Morrissey-Kane, K. Davino. 2003. "What works in prevention: Principles of effective prevention programs. *American Psychologist*, 58: 449-456.
- National Sexual Violence Resource Centre. 2013. Engaging Bystanders to Prevent Sexual Violence: A Guide for Preventionists.
- Ndomo, Bilha and Dayna Barnes. 2014. *Discussion Groups Results and Recommendations*. Antigonish: St. Francis Xavier University.
- Our Turn. 2017. *Our Turn: A National Student-led Action Plan to End Campus Sexual Violence*. Montreal: Student Society of McGill University. https://ssmu.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/our_turn_action_plan_final_english_web.pdf?x26516 (Accessed February 2, 2018).
- Palacios, Naddia Cherre and Karla L. Aguilar. 2017. "An Empowerment-Based Model of Sexual Violence Intervention and Prevention on Campus," in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Palm Reed, Kathleen M., Denise A. Hines, Jessica L. Armstrong, and Amy Y. Cameron. 2015. "Experimental Evaluation of a Bystander Prevention Program for Sexual Assault and Dating Violence." *Psychology of Violence*, 5(1): 95-102.
- Parkhill, Michele R., Antonia Abbey, & Angela J. Jacques-Tiura. 2009. "How to sexual assault characteristics vary as a function of perpetrators' level of intoxication?" *Addictive Behaviors*, 34(3): 331-333.
- Planty, Mike. 2002. "Third party involvement in violent crime, 1993-99." *Bureau of Justice Statistics, Special Report*, Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice.

- Potter, Sharyn J. 2016. "Reducing Sexual Assault on Campus: Lessons From the Movement to Prevent Drunk Driving." *American Journal of Public Health*, 106(5): 822-829.
- Potter, Sharyn J. and Jane G. Stapleton. 2011. "Bringing in the target audience in bystander social marketing materials for communities: suggestions for practitioners." *Violence Against Women*, 17(6): 797-812.
- Potter, Sharyn J., Kim Fountain, and Jane G. Stapleton. 2012. "Addressing Sexual and Relationship Violence in the LGBT Community Using a Bystander Framework." *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 20(4): 201-208.
- Potter, Sharyn J., M. M. Moynihan, Jane G. Stapleton, V. L. Banyard. 2009. "Empowering bystanders to prevent campus sexual violence against women: A preliminary evaluation of a poster campaign." *Violence Against Women*, 15(1):106-121.
- Powell, Anastasia. 2010. Sex, Power and Consent: Youth culture and the unwritten rules. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Province of Nova Scotia. 2015. Breaking the Silence: A Coordinated Response to Sexual Violence in Nova Scotia. Halifax: Province of Nova Scotia.
- Quinlan, Elizabeth. 2017a. "Institutional Betrayal and Sexual Violence in the Corporate University" in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change. Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 61-78.
- Quinlan, Elizabeth. 2017b. "Introduction: Sexual Violence and the Ivory Tower" in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change. Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 1-23.
- Quinlan, Elizabeth, Allyson Clarke, and Natasha Miller. 2016. "Enhancing Care and Advocacy for Sexual Assault Survivors on Canadian Campuses" *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 46(2): 40-54.
- Razack, Sherene. 2000. "Gendered Racial Violence and Spatialized Justice: The Murder of Pamela George." *Canadian Journal of Law and Society*, 15(2): 91-130.
- Rentschler, Carrie A. 2017. "Bystander Intervention, Feminist Hashtag Activism, and the Anti-Carceral Politics of Care" *Feminist Media Studies*, 17(4): 565-584.
- Rich, Marc D., Ebony A. Utley, Kelly Janke, and Minodora Moldoveanu. 2010. "'I'd Rather be Doing Something Else:' Male Resistance to Rape Prevention Programs" *Journal of Men's Studies*. 18(3): 268-288.

- Rojas Durazo, Ana Clarissa. 2011/12. "In Our Hands: Community Accountability as Pedagogical Strategy," *Social Justice*, 34(4): 76-99.
- Sabina, Chiara and Lavina Y. Ho. 2014. "Campus and College Victim Responses to Sexual Assault and Dating Violence: Disclosure, Service Utilization, and Service Provision." *Trauma, Violence and Abuse,* 15(3): 201-226.
- Sable, Marjorie R., Fran Danis, Denise L. Mauzy, Sarah K. Gallagher. 2006. "Barriers to Reporting Sexual Assault for Women and Men: Perspectives of College Students." *Journal of American College Health*, 55(3): 157-162.
- SAFER. 2015. Students Speak Out! A Nationwide Talk Back About Sexual Violence on Campus. New York: SAFER (Students Active for Ending Rape).
- SAFER. 2013. Moving Beyond Blue Lights and Buddy Systems: A National Study of Student Anti-Rape Activists. New York: SAFER (Students Active for Ending Rape).
- SAFER & V-Day. 2013. Making the Grade? Findings from the Campus Accountability Project on Sexual Assault Policies. New York: SAFER (Students Active for Ending Rape).
- Schwartz, Martin D., Walter S. DeKeseredy, David Tait, and Shahid Alvi. 2001. "Male Peer Support and a Feminist Routine Activities Theory: Understanding Sexual Assault on the College Campus." *Justice Quarterly*, 18(3): 623-649.
- Scott, Ciera V., Anneliese A. Singh, and Jessica C. Harris. 2017. "The Intersections of lived Oppression and Resilience: Sexual Violence Prevention for Women of Color on College Campuses" in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Senn, Charlene Y. 2011. "An Imperfect Feminist Journey: Reflections on the Process to Develop an Effective Sexual Assault Resistance Programme for University Women." *Feminism and Psychology*, 21(1): 121-137.
- Senn, Charlene Y., Misha Eliasziw, Paula C. Barata, Wilfreda E. Thurston, Ian R. Newby-Clark, H. Lorraine Radtke, and Karen L. Hodben. 2015. "Efficacy of a Sexual Assault Resistance Program for University Women." *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 372 (24): 2326-2335.
- Senn, Charlene Y., Misha Eliasziw, Paula C. Barata, Wilfreda E. Thurston, Ian R. Newby-Clark,
 H. Lorraine Radtke, Karen L. Hobden, and SARE Study Team. 2014. "Sexual Violence in the Lives of First-Year University Women in Canada: No Improvements in the 21st Century." *BMC Women's Health*, 14: 135.

- Sharp, Elizabeth A., Dana A. Weiser, Don E. Lavigne, and R. Corby Kelly. 2017. "From Furious to Fearless: Faculty Action and Feminist Praxis in Response to Rape Culture on College Campuses". *Family Relations*. 66(1): 75-88.
- Silbaugh, Katharine. 2015. "Reactive to Proactive: Title IX's Unrealized Capacity to Prevent Campus Sexual Assault." *Boston University Law Review*, 95: 1049-1076.
- Smith, Andrea. 2005. *Conquest: Sexual Violence and American Indian Genocide*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Smith, Andrea. 2010. "Decolonizing Anti-Rape Law and Strategizing Accountability in Native American Communities." *Social Justice*, 37(4): 36-43.
- Smith, C. 2014. "Institutional Betrayal." American Psychologist, 69(6): 575-587.
- Smith, C. and J. Freyd. 2013. "Dangerous safe havens: Institutional betrayal exacerbates sexual trauma." *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 26(1): 119-124.
- Solokof, Natalie J. and Ida Dupont. 2005. "Domestic Violence at the Intersections of Race, Class, and Gender: Challenges and Contributions to Understanding Violence Against Marginalized Women in Diverse Communities." *Violence Against Women*, 11(1): 38-64.
- St. Mary's University President's Council. 2013. *Promoting a Culture of Safety, Respect and Consent at St. Mary's University and Beyond.* Halifax: President's Council.
- Starzynski, L.L., S.E. Ullman, H.H. Filipas, and S.M. Townsend. 2005. "Correlates of Women's Sexual Assault Disclosure to Informal and Formal Support Sources." *Violence and Victims*, 20(4): 417-432.
- Stermac, Lana, Sarah Horowitz, and Sheena Bance. 2017. "Sexual coercion on campus: The impact of victimization and disclosure on the educational experiences of Canadian women" in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change. Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 27-43.
- Stevens, Karla and Annie Chau. 2016. Responding and Preventing Sexual Violence Project Paqtenkek Mi'kmaw Nation: Implementation Report. Status of Women Canada/Antigonish Women's Resource Centre/Paqtenkek Mi'kmaw Nation.
- Straatman, Anna-Lee. September 2013. "Bystander Sexual Violence Education for Highschool, college and university students" Learning Network Brief (09). London, Ontario: Learning Network, Centre for Research and Education on Violence Against Women and Children.

- Swartout, Kevin M. 2013. "The Company They Keep: How Peer Networks Influence Male Sexual Aggression" *Psychology of Violence*, 3(2): 157-171.
- Tabachnick, Joan. 2009. *Engaging Bystanders in Sexual Violence Prevention*. Enola, PA: National Sexual Violence Resource Centre.
- Task Force on Misogyny, Sexism and Homophobia in Dalhousie University Faculty of Dentistry. 2015. Report of the Task Force on Misogyny, Sexism and Homophobia in Dalhousie University Faculty of Dentistry. Halifax: President's Office Dalhousie University.
- Testa, Maria. 2002. "The Impact of Men's Alcohol Consumption on Perpetration of Sexual Aggression." *Clinical Psychology review*, 22(2002): 1239-1263.
- Teten Tharp, Andra, Sarah DeGue, Linda Anne Valle, Kathryn A. Brookmeyer, Greta M. Massetti, and Jennifer L. Matjasko. 2012. "A Systemic Qualitative Review of Risk and Protective Factors for Sexual Violence Perpetration." *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 14(2): 133-167.
- Thompson Jr., Edward H., and Elizabeth J. Cracco. 2008. "Sexual Aggression in Bars: What College Men Can Normalize." *The Journal of Men's Studies*, 16(1) 82-96.
- Tillipaugh, Daniel. 2017. "The Wounds of Our Experience': College Men who Experience Sexual Violence," in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Trusolino, Madison. 2017. "It's not about one bad apple': The 2007 York University Vanier Residence rapes" in Elizabeth Quinlan, Andrea Quinlan, Curtis Fogel, and Gail Taylor (Eds.), *Sexual Violence at Canadian Universities: Activism, Institutional Responses, and Strategies for Change.* Waterloo, ON: Wilfred Laurier Press, 79-91.
- Tuliao, A.P. and D. McChargue. 2014. "Problematic alcohol use and sexual assault among male college students: The moderating and mediating roles of alcohol outcome expectancies." *American Journal of Addictions*, 23(4): 321-328.
- Ullman, Sarah E. 1996. "Social Reactions, Coping Strategies, and Self-Blame Attributions in Adjustment to Sexual Assault." *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 20(4): 505-526.
- University of Ottawa. 2015. Report of the Task Force on Respect and Equlity: Ending Sexual Violence at the University of Ottawa. Ottawa: University of Ottawa.
- U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women. 2014a. *Bystander-Focused Prevention of Sexual Violence*.

- U.S. Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women. 2014b. *Establishing Prevention Programming: Strategic Planning for Campuses*.
- Wanjuki, Wagatwe. 2017. "Forward" in Jessica C. Harris and Chris Linder (Eds). *Intersections of Identity and Sexual Violence on Campus*. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Weiser, Dana A. 2017. "Confronting Myths About Sexual Assault: A Feminist Analysis of the False Report Literature." *Family Relations*. 66(1): 26-60.
- Whiteside-Lantz, Mary. 2003. *The Empowerment Project: A Train the Trainer Toolkit*. Fredericton, NB: Fredericton Sexual Assault Crisis Centre, Inc.
- Wooten, Sara Carrigan. 2017. "Revealing the Hidden Curriculum of Black Women's Erasure in Sexual Violence Prevention Policy" *Gender and Education*, 29(3): 405-417.
- Worthen, Meredith G. F. and Samantha A. Wallace. 2017. "Intersectionality and Perceptions about Sexual Assault Education and Reporting on College Campuses." *Family Relations*, 66(1): 180-196.